
PLANNING COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Thursday 26 September 2019
VENUE: Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON Andrea Griffiths
To elect a Chairperson for the remaining civic year.  

2.  ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRPERSON Andrea Griffiths
To elect a Vice Chairperson for the remaining civic year.  

3.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Griffiths

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Andrea Griffiths
To receive declarations by members of (a) personal interests 
(including their nature) and (b) prejudicial interests under the 
Code of Conduct. Members who have an interest to declare are 
asked to complete the Declarations of Interests form at the back 
of the chamber.

5.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10am 
Thursday 19th September 2019.  

To answer any oral question(s) put by members of the public with 
the consent of the Chairperson.
Depending on the nature of the questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting.



6.  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written members’ questions about matters which 
are within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10.00am 
on Thursday 19th September 2019.  

7.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 10) Andrea Griffiths
The Committee is asked to approve the minutes of the meeting 
held on the 9th May 2019.  

8.  MEMBERS SITE VISIT Sarah Pearse
To receive the notes of the Members Site Visit held on 19th 
September 2019. TO FOLLOW

9.  APPLICATION NO: 19/0026/CHR3MJ LECKHAMPTON 
CHURCH OF ENGLAND PRIMARY SCHOOL, HALL ROAD, 
CHELTENHAM, GL53 0HP (Pages 11 - 68)

Linda Townsend

The Committee is asked to consider the erection of a new hall 
with kitchen and staff facilities; extension of entrance and 
reception area; creation of a new pedestrian access, relocated 
vehicular access & extended car park; provision of a Multi Use 
Games Area and associated works.  

10.  SECOND REVIEW OF GLOUCESTERSHIRE'S STATEMENT 
OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT REPORT (Pages 69 - 90)

Robin Drake

11.  PLANNING ENFORCEMENT REPORT (Pages 91 - 94) Andy Birchley

The Committee is asked to note the report.

12.  DELEGATED DECISIONS 21ST JUNE - 12TH SEPTEMBER 
2019 (Pages 95 - 98)

Sarah Pearse

The Committee is asked to note the report.  

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

 1) The Sites Inspection Visit will take place on 19th September 
2019. 

Please will members meet in the Members Car Park at 
9:25am 

2) The Chairman’s Briefing will take place at 12:00pm 



NOTES

MEMBERSHIP – Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Robert Bird, Cllr David Brown, 
Cllr Dr John Cordwell, Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 
Cllr Graham Morgan, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Keith Rippington, 
Cllr Steve Robinson, Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Robert Vines and Cllr Simon Wheeler

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe 01452 328506  e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact 
AndreaGriffiths, Democratic Services Unit : 01452 324206/fax: 425240
e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) TRAINING/SUBSTITUTION – All members must have received recent training 
before they can sit on the Committee and take part in discussion and vote. 
Substitution arrangements are as set out in the Constitution. A list of trained 
Members is available from your Political Assistant.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Thursday 9 May 2019 
commencing at 12.30 pm.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Phil Awford 
(Chairman)
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Stephen Hirst

Cllr Graham Morgan
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Keith Rippington
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Simon Wheeler

Substitutes: Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Apologies: Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Pam Tracey MBE and Cllr 
Robert Vines

1. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions had been received.  

2. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No member’s questions had been received

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

It was noted that there was a typographical error on Page 10, first paragraph, the 
word ‘sudo’ be amended to ‘pseudo’.  

Councillor Bird requested that the sentence on Page 9, sixth paragraph “However, 
there was no issue of odour and therefore he felt the green belt argument was void” 
be deleted, as he felt it made no sense.  

Resolved 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 21st March 2019 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairperson, subject to the agreed 
amendments.   

Page 1

Agenda Item 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

4. APPLICATION NO: 18/0032/TWMAJW LAND TO THE WEST OF WINGMOOR 
FARM, STOKE ROAD, BISHOPS CLEEVE. 

Denis Canney, Senior Planning Officer informed the Committee there was a late 
request from Agent, for a deferment until the next Committee meeting pending 
advice from the Applicant.  

Councillor Cordwell proposed to defer the application, this was seconded by Cllr 
Morgan.  On being put to the vote, the proposal to defer the application was passed 
(10 in favour).  

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved

That the application be deferred until the July Committee meeting.  

5. APPLICATION NO:18/0073/TWMAJW.  LAND OFF SHURDINGTON ROAD, 
BENTHAM, NEAR CHELTENHAM 

A summary of the application was presented by Linda Townsend, Senior Planning 
Officer aided by a power point presentation (A copy of the presentation is attached 
to the signed minute book).  This was a planning application by Elliott’s 
(Cheltenham) Limited to use a 0.38 ha parcel of scrubland as an extension to the 
temporary waste recycling operation.  

The Committee were reminded that Members granted a 10 year temporary planning 
permission in 2016 under planning reference 15/0053/TWMAJW considering that 
‘Very Special Circumstances’ applied to this site in the Gloucester – Cheltenham 
Green Belt where waste development would not normally be permitted.  

It was noted that Members had visited the site, prior to the Committee meeting.  
The site visit notes were not available at this stage.  

Ms Townsend advised the Committee of the following corrections to the report:  
- Paragraph 7.19 (P50) incorrectly refers to temporary planning permission 
15/0053/TWMAJW being issued on 1.8.16 but it was issued on 19.10.16 and 
expires on 19.10.26 as stated elsewhere in the report.
- Condition 10 which related to ‘hours of working’ on page 64 incorrectly refers 
to ‘quarry working’ when it should just refer to ‘site working’ and Mineral Planning 
Authority when it should be the Waste Planning Authority. 

The application site was located on the western side of Cheltenham, approximately 
half a kilometre south-west of the village of Shurdington.  The site was accessed 
from a shared track on the north side of the A46 Shurdington Road, which was 
approximately 1 km northeast of the junction with the A417.  Members noted that 
the access track was 440 metres long and was shared with other users.    The 
public right of way known as the Gloucestershire Way ran alongside the access 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

track from Shurdington Road until just passed the site and then continued north-
west, parallel with Badgeworth Lane.  

Ms Townsend explained the site sat within the Gloucester- Cheltenham Green Belt.  
The Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty lay on the southeast of the site, 
with its boundary running along the A46 Shurdington Road.  The Cotswold 
escarpment lay to the south east of the site.

The Committee were advised that the application site was located within a rural 
area of predominantly flat landscape character.  The nearest residential properties 
to the application site were located on Badgeworth Lane. With the closest dwelling 
‘The Paddocks’ 200 metres to the north-east of the site.  Deer Park Archery Club 
was located to the north of the application site and the beekeeping business known 
as Easy Bees was located to the east of the access track, approximately half way 
along its length. 

Members noted the existing waste recycling site was located immediately to the 
west of the application site.  Other land in the applicant’s control, was to the 
southeast of the application site.  The applicant also operated a sand pit to the 
north west of the application site (as depicted on slide 3 of the presentation), which 
was being restored following the expiry of planning permission 16/0058/TWMAJM.

Ms Townsend informed the Committee that the existing site had permission 
(15/0053/TWMAJW) to sort and recycle 40,000 tonnes a year of inert construction 
and demolition wastes such as soils and brick rubble and to sort up to 5,000 tonnes 
a year of non-inert skip wastes.  Permitted operations included crushing and 
screening of waste materials on a campaign basis for a maximum of 8 weeks in a 
year using mobile plant.  The site employs 5 men with up to 9 being present on the 
site during crushing campaigns.  

It was noted there were no permanent buildings on the site.  The site office, staff 
welfare facilities and storage were within steel containers which were located close 
to the site entrance, near the northern site boundary. The existing site was 
surrounded by an earth screening bund which varied between 3 and 5 metres in 
height.

Ms Townsend explained the applicant was seeking to enlarge the site to allow more 
space for the skip waste recycling without proposing to change the permitted waste 
throughput.  Skip waste recycling would be carried out on an extended concrete 
pad and by relocating a mechanised picking station into the extension area.  The 
western part of the site would be used for processing of inert construction and 
demolition wastes would remain unchanged.  

The existing screening bund which ran along the northern and southern site 
boundary would need to be extended while the bund along the existing eastern site 
boundary would need to be relocated so that it would screen the extension site from 
the edge of the access track.  In addition, landscape planting was proposed to 
extend along the edge of the bund.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Members were advised that access to the application site would be from the 
existing site.  The office, storage and staff welfare facilities of the existing site would 
be used by the operatives of the proposed site.
The Committee noted the existing waste site was subject to a temporary planning 
permission which required the site to be restored to agricultural pasture by 19th 
October 2026.  The applicant proposed that the extension site would also be 
restored by the same date.  The proposed restoration would see the screening 
bunds removed but the boundary landscape trees and hedges retained.  

The photograph on slide 7, showed the application site where the access road turns 
the corner towards the site waste site entrance, with the building for Easy Bees 
shown on the left.

The photograph on slide 8 showed the existing site screening bund which 
delineates the eastern boundary of the existing waste management site.  This bund 
would need to be relocated to allow access between the existing site and the 
extension area

This photograph on slide 9 showed the screening bund on the left of the access 
road and the site entrance.  Deer Park Archery car park could be seen on the right. 
It was explained that the recycling operations were screened from view by the earth 
screening bund which surrounded the existing site.  

Members were advised that the applicant had resurfaced the access track with a 
bound surface between the application site and Shurdington Road in 2017, in 
accordance with the planning condition of the temporary permission.

The photograph on slide 10 showed the entrance to the access track on 
Shurdington Road.  Ms Townsend explained that objectors had raised concerns 
about a potential increase in the number of vehicle movements on Shurdington 
Road from the site, mud on the road causing blocked gullies and company vehicles 
using Badgeworth Lane to access the site.

Ms Townsend informed the Committee that the office and staff welfare facilities 
were within containers, close the northern site boundary to the west of the site 
entrance.  There were no buildings proposed on the application site.  The applicant 
had installed a weighbridge in accordance with the condition of the temporary 
planning permission.

The Committee were advised the photograph at slide 13, showed the mechanised 
picking station on the existing site.  It was proposed to relocate this plant to the 
extension area.  This equipment which was permitted in September 2017 provided 
weather protection for operatives who sort materials into skips below the conveyor 
belt.  

The photograph (slide 14) showed some machinery used in the sorting of materials 
on a concrete pad where wastes were tipped.  It was noted that some objectors 
referred to an increase in noise being created by operations on the site.  However, 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

the Environmental Health Officer was satisfied that the noise levels from the site 
could be adequately mitigated and controlled.  

The photograph (slide 15) showed the western part of the site looking southeast 
towards the higher ground in the AONB.  This part of the site was used to stockpile 
soils and process inert wastes. No change was proposed to the operations of this 
part of the site.

Slide 16 displayed the screening bunds which surrounded the site.  The grab arm in 
the processing area on the site could be seen above the 3 metre bund.  The 
applicant proposed to plant up the earth bund which surrounded the site with native 
trees and hedges in order to mitigate the views from higher ground.

Slide 17 showed the site from the elevated viewpoint in Crickley Hill Country Park, 
to the southeast of the site, with the application site is indicated.  Additional planting 
was proposed by the Applicant to help mitigate this distant viewpoint from the 
AONB.

Ms Townsend explained this application came before the Committee for 
consideration, as a County Councillor was an adjacent landowner and objections 
had been received from Badgeworth Parish Council and 4 local residents relating to 
noise, dust and increased traffic generated as well as general inappropriateness of 
the operation in the green belt and remaining time left of the temporary planning 
permission.  

Members were advised that the site was within the Gloucester- Cheltenham Green 
Belt, the waste development was deemed to be inappropriate and harmful to the 
Green Belt.  National planning policy reflected in local development plan policy 
seeks to protect the green belt and carries a presumption against inappropriate 
development unless ‘very special circumstances’ could be demonstrated that the 
harm can be clearly outweighed by other considerations.  

In summary, the consideration of this planning balance was set out in paragraphs 
7.67 – 7.71 of the report and the very special circumstances were considered to be 
sufficient to outweigh the harm caused by inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt, hence the recommendation for the granting of temporary permission as set out 
in section 8.0 (page 61) of the report. Similar planning conditions which apply to the 
existing waste site were recommended which include the expiry of the temporary 
permission on 19.10.2026 and correction of condition 10 wording referred to in my 
introduction.  .  

The Chairperson invited the agent to address the Committee: 

Susan Hughes (Agent): 

“This application aims to build upon recent improvements to the site Elliott’s have 
been able to put in place because of your past planning support for this recycling 
operation.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Today we ask for your permission for a small extension to provide more room for 
recycling operations and vehicle circulation.  At the moment the recycling area on 
site can get very congested as there is limited room for vehicles to unload material.  
The proposal will push back the screening bunds and landscaping to create a larger 
central area for waste to be unloaded from where it is sorted by machine grabs and 
hand into containers and where it is transferred to the picking station.  At present 
the recycling area is cramped with insufficient space for vehicles to manoeuvre and 
deposit material.  When there is more than one lorry in this area, the space 
becomes jammed.  This proposal will stop and will improve site safety and the 
working environment for site operatives as well as improving the efficiency of the 
operation.  The site has planning permission until 202, a further seven years, so it 
does make sense for Elliott’s to make this improvement for the good of the 
workforce and the business.  Also, the rearrangement of the space will actually 
have a slightly beneficial noise impact at the nearest properties as the noise from 
the picking station is less in the new location.  

We are grateful for your Planning Officer’s support for this proposal and her 
recommendation to approve the application and I can confirm that Elliott’s are 
willing to accept the majority of conditions proposed, however I am concerned 
about the necessity and reasonableness of conditions 24 and 25, which introduce 
new requirements.  

Condition 24 requires quarterly returns to be submitted to the WPA which will be an 
additional administrative burden which I don’t think is fair given the company are 
already keeping records and have to submit returns already to the EA and have 
demonstrated with this application that they are working within the required 
parameters of the planning permission.  I accept there was a problem with the 
records for 2017 but that was down to a break in into the weighbridge office, but we 
have provided full records for 2018 with the application, and going forward the 
company has tightened up its record keeping and now has a full time weighbridge 
operator who is responsible for this.  I know of no other operators who have to 
submit quarterly returns to the Council and Government Guidance says conditions 
shouldn’t duplicate other regulatory regimes.  

I also do not think it is fair or reasonable to ask Elliott’s to submit an annual 
progress report concerning their search for another site as this doesn’t meet the 
necessity test for conditions set out in Government Guidance.  Members were 
satisfied that there were no alternative locations when they issued the ten year 
planning permission in 2016.  This permission was not conditional to the 
demonstration that no other sites were available so how is it reasonable to ask for 
continued updates on this now?  The question that should be asked is without 
condition 25, is it necessary or appropriate to refuse planning permission?  The 
answer is no, therefore the condition is not necessary and fails to meet the required 
test.  

To conclude, to my mind both conditions 24 and 25 are unreasonable and 
unnecessary and place disproportionate financial burden on the applicant and I 
therefore hope members can accept the Officer recommendation to approve this 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

application, but ask them to grant planning permission without imposing conditions 
24 and 25.”

The Chairperson invited questions from Members following the presentation.  

 
Councillor Bird asked Officers if conditions 24 and 25 were necessary.  Ms 
Townsend explained that in terms of condition 24, the Authority was of the opinion 
that the quarterly submission of data was not unreasonable, as the required data 
would be recorded on waste transport notes which were part of the daily operation 
of the site. It was noted that the Environment Agency (EA) didn’t collect data on the 
number of vehicle movements.  Members were advised that it had previously taken 
Elliott’s three months to submit the required data.  Officers felt that the reporting 
mechanisms were in line with the EA, therefore it shouldn’t be a problem to produce 
the required data.  It was deemed good enforcement practice and was necessary to 
ensure compliance.  

In relation to condition 25, Ms Townsend clarified that this was not an onerous 
requirement and would give the local community confidence in the operation.  It 
would also focus Elliott’s attention on the fact that it was a temporary permission, 
therefore an alternative site would be required at a later date.  

Councillor Bird remarked that the conditions should be about the operation of the 
site and not the operator’s future intention.  Ms Townsend explained that the 
number of vehicles visiting the site was an operation issue and officers were looking 
for a continuity of recycling targets.   

The Chairperson wished to know what would happen while screening and bunding 
was being removed to replace the new bunding.  Ms Townsend informed the 
Committee that the planning conditions required the bunds to be relocated before 
the operation could commence.  It was evident that there was a lot of material on 
the site, which could be used for the construction of new bunds in a timely manner, 
while the existing ones were being removed. 

The Chairperson noted the Parish Council were concerned that the site was 
becoming more widespread.  Ms Townsend replied that there was no intention to 
increase the number of vehicle movements onto the site.  

Councillor Parsons wished to know the actual number of daily vehicle movements.  
Ms Townsend referred to paragraph 7.53 of the report, which stated there were 113 
daily movements.  She clarified there was no intention to increase the number of 
vehicle movements, however the numbers did fluctuate throughout the year.  

Councillor Parsons asked if the number of movements were within the planning 
condition.  Ms Townsend confirmed they were, she added that there was only one 
year of data held due to the break in at Elliott’s, hence the request for quarterly 
reporting.  

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Councillor Cordwell remarked that it was important to have Condition 24, so vehicle 
monitoring could occur to ensure compliance.   

Councillor Hale referred to paragraph 7.56 of the report and the Parish Council 
complaint in relation to blocked gullies.  He added that whilst on the Site visit he 
noticed they were blocked and the wheel wash was one man with a hosepipe and 
there were no drainage facilities.   Councillor Hale wished to know if it was possible 
to condition a wheel wash and a stand-off point, in order to minimise the road 
debris.  Ms Townsend clarified she had previously had a discussion with the 
applicant and it could be added, as the infrastructure was on site, however given 
the site was a temporary permission, it was a  question of investment.  

The Committee entered into debate.  

Councillor Bird noted there was no mud on the road.  

Councillor Cordwell accepted there was a wheel wash facility on the site, in order to 
contain the mud.  

Councillor Parsons referred to the access onto the A46, travelling from the 
Cheltenham direction.  He noted that it was a tight fit if two lorries were accessing 
and exiting the site at the same time and suggested that this should be given further 
thought.  

Councillor Windsor Clive raised concern over condition 24 and 25.  He remarked 
that there were confidential issues in relation to searches for new sites and the 
impact on the applicant.  

Councillor Bird added that he was happy to accept the majority of the officer 
recommendations but had concerns over condition 24 and 25.  He felt that condition 
24 was merely replicating work and condition 25 was unnecessary at this stage, 
given the temporary permission.  He suggested that these two conditions should be 
removed.  

Councillor Cordwell reminded the Committee that the EA were collecting different 
data to that of the Authority and condition 24 should remain, as it would allow 
officers to check the number of vehicle movements and ensure compliance.  In 
relation to Condition 25, Councillor Cordwell felt that applicant should be searching 
for an alternative site as the permission was only temporary. Councillor Wheeler 
endorsed Councillor Cordwell’s view.   

Councillor Bird referred to condition 25, he felt that it was not appropriate to be 
demanding of the applicant, given that the permission was temporary, the 
application should be granted on that basis, therefore condition 25 was irrelevant.  

Councillor Windsor Clive remarked that he also didn’t agree with condition 24 and 
25, he felt that condition 25 was unenforceable.  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Councillor Hirst proposed that officer recommendation should taken as presented 
before the Committee.  Councillor Brown seconded this proposal.  

The Chairperson asked for a proposal to remove condition 24 and 25.  Councillor 
Bird proposed the amendment, which was seconded by Councillor Windsor Clive.  
On being put to the vote, the proposal to remove conditions 24 and 25 was lost (3 in 
favour, 7 against).  

The Chairperson then put Cllr Hirst’s proposal to accept the officer recommendation 
as presented before the Committee, this was seconded by Councillor Brown.  On 
being put to the vote the application was passed (10 in favour, 1 Abstention).  

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved 

That planning permission be granted for the reasons summarised in 
paragraphs 7.67 to 7.71 and planning conditions recommended in Section 8.0 
of the report, subject to the Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government not ‘calling in’ the application for his 
determination under the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) 
Direction 2009 as “Green Belt development.”

6. PLANNING ENFORCEMENT REPORT 

Andy Birchley, Enforcement Officer presented the report in detail.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.  

7. DELEGATED DECISIONS 9TH MARCH - 26TH APRIL 2019 

Sarah Pearse, Principal Planning Officer presented the report.  

Resolved

That the delegated decisions made between 9th March and 26th April 2019 be 
noted.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 1.32 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



APPLICATION NO: 19/0026/CHR3MJ VALIDATION 
DATE:

27th March 2019

DISTRICT REF: 19/00686/DEEM3

AGENT: Roberts Limbrick Ltd

APPLICANT: Gloucestershire County Council

SITE: Leckhampton Church of England Primary School, Hall Road, 
Cheltenham, GL53 0HP

PROPOSAL: Erection of a new hall with kitchen and staff facilities; 
extension of entrance and reception area; creation of a new 
pedestrian access, relocated vehicular access & extended 
car park; provision of a Multi Use Games Area and 
associated works
PARISH OF Leckhampton SITE AREA: 2.05 Ha

GRID 
REF:

394582 E
219848 N

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission is GRANTED for the reasons 
summarised in paragraphs 7.63 to 7.65 in accordance with Regulation 3 of the Town 
and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 and subject to the planning 
conditions recommended in Section 8.0 of this report.

1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

1.1 The roughly rectangular shaped 2 ha application site comprises a primary 
school and playing field that is located within the area known as 
Leckhampton, approximately 2.5 km south of Cheltenham town centre.  The 
school is located on land to the west of Hall Road and 70 metres north of the 
junction with Church Road.  The school has a single access from Hall Road 
used by both vehicles and pedestrians, giving access to a small parking area 
for staff use only, located along the northern boundary of the school site.  The 
school’s playing fields are located to the rear of and west of the main school 
buildings.  The ground slopes from east to west, dropping approximately 3 
metres in height and from north to south by approximately 2 metres.  A small 
‘school nature area’ is located at the southwest corner of the school site, 
adjacent to the western boundary with the allotments. 

1.2 Leckhampton Church of England Primary School is one of the oldest in 
Cheltenham.  The original school room constructed in 1840 of stone blocks as 
a detached single storey building with pitched tile roof is used as a dining 
room.  The later additions to the school were constructed in 1905 of 
predominately red brick with large white wooden windows and a red pan tiled, 
gabled roof.  The school has been subject to a number of further extensions 
with flat roofs of contemporary styles which have been constructed of a 
variety of materials including buff coloured bricks and cladding.

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



Page 12



1.3 Allotment gardens are located to the north of the school boundary and 
immediately west of the school’s playing field.  The allotments located to the 
west of the school playing field boundary are within the ownership of the 
County Council and shown outlined in blue on the application location plan.  
The land beyond the northern allotments is used as playing fields known as 
Burrows Playing Fields and is designated as Public Green Space in the 
adopted Cheltenham Borough Local Plan.  

1.4 There are trees and hedgerows growing along the school site’s boundaries.  
The rear garden areas of a row of residential properties (numbered 47-89) 
immediately adjoin the southern boundary of the school site and which face 
Church Road.  An electricity substation is located to the rear of 57 Church 
Road and the southern boundary of the school site.  The plant enclosure is 
accessed from a gated track running between 57 and 59 Church Road.  

1.5 The closest neighbouring property which immediately adjoins the school 
boundary, separated by an old stone wall, is ‘The Old School House’ at 67 
Hall Road.  A war memorial is located at the corner of Hall Road and Church 
Road.  The old school room is located to the west of and rear of the war 
memorial.  Residential properties are located to the east of the school, with 
frontages along Hall Road and on-street car parking by residents. There are a 
number of traffic calming measures along Hall Road, including speed humps 
and a ‘School Keep Clear’ zone.

1.6 The site lies outside of the Central Conservation Area.  The school is not 
listed; however the oldest part of the school now used as the dining block is 
included in the index of buildings of ‘local interest’.  The nearest listed building 
is the Parish Hall on Church Road which is Grade II Listed.  The war 
memorial, located at the corner of Hall Road with Church Lane is also indexed 
as being of ‘local interest’ and subject to policy protection from harmful 
alteration.  

1.7 There are no public rights of way (PROW) or scheduled ancient monuments 
on the application site.  The nearest PROW (CHL28) follows the western 
boundary of the allotment gardens owned by the County Council in a north-
south alignment, joining another PROW which follows the north western 
boundary of the allotment gardens to the north of the school (ZCH81) before 
crossing the Burrows Playing Fields towards Arden Road.  A number of other 
PROW criss-cross an area of relatively undeveloped open land to the 
northwest of the school up to Shurdington Road.  This open land has been 
identified as part of an area of ‘Local Green Space’ in the emerging 
Cheltenham Plan with policy protection from inappropriate development.   The 
school falls outside Flood Zones 2 and 3, therefore it is deemed to be land 
with a low probability of flooding.  

Page 13



2.0 DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

2.1 The purpose of this planning application is to expand Leckhampton Church of 
England Primary School by 1 Form of Entry (1FOE) in September 2020 within 
the existing site boundaries in order to meet an increase in demand for 
primary school places in this part of Cheltenham.  The school currently has a 
net capacity of 465 and a published admission of 60 pupils aged 4-11.  There 
were 466 children on the roll in October 2018.  The 1FOE expansion would 
add 165 places, increasing the capacity of the school from 465 to 630 pupils.  
There would also be a requirement for an additional 5 full-time teachers, 5 
part-time teaching partners, 5 mid-day supervisors and 3 support team 
members.  This would be the equivalent of an additional 11.5 full time 
equivalent (FTE) members of staff above the existing staffing level of 33.5 
FTE at the school.  

Pre-application Engagement

2.2 Prior to the submission of the planning application, two public consultations 
events were carried out at the school to allow neighbours, staff and parents to 
give their views before the proposal  was finalised for submission.  The first 
consultation was held on 13th December 2018 and 3 different options for 
expanding the school were presented.  105 people attended and 76 
responses were received to the options.  The second consultation was held 
on the 30th January 2019 which presented a more detailed presentation of the 
favoured option from the first consultation.  21 responses were received as a 
result of this event.  

2.3 The final submission proposals have been designed to provide the school with 
accommodation that meet the current Department for Education Building 
Design Bulletin 103 guidelines.  

Proposal 

2.4 The scheme to accommodate the additional year group classes would be 
achieved through a mixture of internal remodelling of existing buildings and 
spaces and the proposed construction of extensions to increase the floor 
space of the school by 466 square metres.  The proposed works include:

 Single storey extension to the existing admin block and entrance lobby 
at the front of the school;

 Provision of new single storey hall to the rear of the school; 
 Refurbishment and repurposing of the existing dining block; 
 Refurbishment and remodelling of some existing school buildings to 

create 6 additional classrooms;
 Recladding and replacement of windows in the school hall;
 Relocation of the vehicular entrance to separate pedestrian access;
 Creation of additional staff and visitor car parking;
 Creation of an additional pedestrian access to Church Road along an 

existing emergency access;

Page 14



 Provision of an enclosed multi-use games area (MUGA) to allow for 
year round use.

2.5 The proposed school hall at the rear of the school has been designed to be 
sensitive to the design of the existing school, having a muted colour palette, 
clad in timber with dark grey window frames.  The hall roof would be pitched, 
having a pre-coated standing seam metal finish to tie in with the existing 
school buildings.  The extension to the admin block at the front of the school 
would be constructed of the same materials but would have a flat roof, to tie- 
in with the existing admin block.  The existing school hall would be partially 
reclad in timber with new windows and includes some new openings to 
improve the overall appearance of the school’s Hall Road frontage.  

2.6 The benefits of the scheme are that the vehicular access to the school from 
Hall Road would be relocated in order to separate vehicles from pedestrians.  
An increase of 22 on-site parking spaces would be provided creating 42 staff 
car spaces, 5 visitor car spaces and 2 disabled car spaces.  10 cycle store 
spaces and scooter storage for 100 would be provided on site.  A new 
pedestrian access from Church Road would make use of an existing 
emergency access and take the pressure off the single site access from Hall 
Road.  A tactile drop kerb crossing over Church Road would improve the 
accessibility of this route.  The new MUGA would be easily accessible from 
the playground to the rear of the school.  The MUGA and car parking would 
be accessible for out of hours use if required.  The sports playing pitches or 
the nature area have not been compromised by the development.  Planting 
would be used to provide a visual buffer and soften the boundary between the 
parking area and the school playing fields.  

2.7 The application is supported by a Transport Statement (TS) and School 
Travel Plan (STP).  A number of off-site improvements to the public highway 
are identified in the TS based on an audit of the five most likely used travelling 
routes to the school.  These are:

 Tactile drop kerb footway crossing provided on Arden Road at junction 
with Hall Road;

 Pedestrian guardrail installed on Hall Road footway opposite footpath 
entrance between 8 and 10 Charnwood Road;

 Tactile paving of drop kerb footway crossing on Hall Road at the 
junction with Moorend Road;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Charnwood Road at junction with Arden 
Road;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Arden Road at junction with Moorend 
Grove;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Moorend Grove between junctions of 
Peregrine Road and Arden Road junction;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Peregrine Road at junction with Moorend 
Grove;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing across Church Road opposite proposed 
school Church Road pedestrian access and;

Page 15



 Relocated tactile pedestrian crossing on Hall Road in the vicinity of the 
Hall Road school accesses.

2.8 The scheme overall requires the removal of 7 trees which would be 
compensated by the replanting of 12 trees.  The creation of the new vehicular 
access to the extended car park, located close to the northern site boundary, 
from Hall Road would involve the loss of two trees.  A Tree Survey has been 
submitted which identifies the trees as purple plum.  A tree planting plan 
shows two new cherry trees would be positioned along the Hall Road frontage 
and three trees would be planted close to the new entrance along the 
northern boundary with the allotments which would be cherry and field maple.  
New planting along the rear northern boundary would be Indian Bean Tree, 
rowan, oak, flowering crab and wild service (sorbus).  

Further Information submitted 16th April 2019

2.9 Following comments received by Sport England, revised existing and 
proposed site plans were submitted which shows the position of sports 
pitches on the school playing field.  An additional document entitled 'Loss of 
Playing Field Justification Statement' provides more information regarding the 
existing condition of the school playing fields, mitigation and improvement 
measures intended to be taken.

Further Information submitted 9th May 2019

2.10 Following requests by the Parish Council and the local County Councillor for 
the inclusion of a new footpath route to the rear of the school grounds, a 
statement was provided explaining the reasons why the school did not wish to 
amend the current application, which were principally around issues of 
safeguarding, on-going maintenance commitment and concerns over trespass 
and vandalism.  

“We are not opposed to this proposal being explored further at some point, 
but feel that there should be further consultation with parents, school staff and 
allotment users, to establish if concerns can be mitigated and a consensus 
reached.  As it is not possible to ascertain how long it could take to clarify 
these issues, it cannot be included as a part of this application.”

Further Information submitted 15th May 2019

2.11 Following comments received from a near neighbour in relation the use of the 
dining block and after school clubroom, a statement from the school advising 
on the uses of these buildings was supplied.  This confirmed that the 
breakfast and after school club would need to increase relative to the 
expansion and that other school rooms would be used to alleviate pressure on 
space.  It was confirmed that the operating hours were 0745 to 0845 hours 
and 1500 to 1800 hours on school days.  The dining block would be used as a 
staff workspace, multi purpose teaching space and parents’ room as well as 
part of the school’s after school care provision.  The school hall would 
continue to be used for after school activities.

Page 16



Further information submitted 7th June 2019

2.12 Following a request for clarification of a number of points raised by the County 
Highway advisor, the Applicant’s transport consultants provided a Transport 
Addendum to the submitted Transport Assessment (TA) giving further details 
of extra-curricular activities and staff attendances.  

“A revised School Travel Plan was submitted following comments from the 
County’s Travel Plan Officer and includes an Action Plan of a package of 
measures to achieve a 20% modal shift to reduce single occupancy car travel 
which will be reviewed annually across the 5 year period of the Action Plan.”

2.13 The Design and Access Statement was revised to include additional small 
scale biodiversity enhancements which would take place on the school site 
such as bird boxes, log piles and invertebrate structures as requested by the 
County Ecologist.

2.14 Following comments from the District Council’s Tree Officer, a tree numbered 
T1 on plans is to be retained and a Tree Protection Plan submitted.  T1 is now 
shown on amended drawing ‘Proposed Site Plan’ and removed from drawing 
‘Plan showing Trees to be removed.’  It was thought necessary to remove this 
tree to facilitate construction; however this is no longer thought to be the case.  
Twelve new trees are still proposed despite requiring the removal of 7 trees 
as opposed to 8 originally proposed.  

2.15 A Tree Survey carried out in August 2018, prior to the submission of the 
application, was also submitted following comments about the timing of the 
tree surveys.  The school carried out maintenance work to a number of trees 
over February 2019 half term and the tree survey was updated to reflect this 
in order to avoid confusion stemming from differences between the original 
and proposed drawings.

Further information submitted 20th June 2019

2.16 The School Travel Plan received on the 7th June 2019 was further revised 
following detailed comments by the County’s Travel Plan Officer.  

Further information submitted 1st August 2019

2.17 An amended Arboricultural Method Statement was received following 
comments by the County Landscape Advisor relating to the adequacy of tree 
protection measures.  

Further Information submitted 9th September 2019

2.18 A materials schedule and material finishes board were submitted to avoid the 
need to submit these details for approval prior to the commencement of the 
development.

Page 17



3.0 PLANNING HISTORY

Application 
number

Description of Development Decision/date

CB10494/01 Demolition of 2 Terrapin classrooms 
and replace with 2 Elliott Medway 
units on the same site.

Granted March 
1985

CB10494/02 Provision of 2 Elliott Medway 
Classrooms.

Granted May 
1990

CB10494/03 Provision of Elliott Medway 
Classroom.

Granted June 
1992

CB10494/04 Retention of 2 no Elliott Medway 
Classrooms. 

Granted July 
1993

CB10494/05 Provision of Elliott Medway 
Classroom.

Granted July 
1993

CB10494/06 Extension to form 4 no Classrooms. Granted March 
1995

CB10494/07 Classroom extension. Granted March 
1997

CB/02/01584/DEE
M3

Extension and Alterations. Granted 
December 
2002

03/0037/FUL
(app to CBC)

Retention of an Elliot classroom 
building

Granted 17th 
April 2003

05/01673/DEEM3 Adaptions and extension to form 
multi-function room for school and 
after school club.

Granted 
December 
2005

07/01285/DEEM3 Community Room Extension Granted 
November 
2007

13/01749/CLPUD
(app to CBC)

Proposed erection of an ancillary 
outbuilding to be used as a 
computer room

Granted 
December 
2013

15/0044/CHREG3 Single storey freestanding 
Classroom 

Granted 24 
July 2015

4.0 POLICY CONTEXT

National Planning Policy Framework

4.1 The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF3) published on 19th 
February 2019 sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and 
how these are expected to be applied and is a material consideration in 
determining the application.  In assessing and determining planning 
proposals, the local planning authority should apply the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development, which is the main focus of the NPPF3 in relation 
to both the plan-making and decision making process.

Page 18



4.2 Paragraph 94 of the NPPF3 states that it is important that a sufficient choice 
of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities.  Local planning authorities should take a proactive, positive and 
collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that 
will widen choice in education. They should: 

“a)  give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools through 
the preparation of plans and decisions on applications; and 

b)   work with schools promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies to 
identify and resolve key planning issues before applications are 
submitted.” 

4.3 Paragraph 102 of the NPPF3 states that transport issues should be 
considered from the earliest stages of the development proposals so that 
opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport are identified 
and pursued.  The environmental impacts of traffic and transport need to be 
assessed and taken account of for avoiding and mitigating any adverse 
effects and for net environmental gains.  Paragraph 111 requires all 
development that will generate significant amounts of movement to provide a 
travel plan and be supported by a transport statement or assessment of the 
likely impacts.

4.4 Paragraph 109 states that 

“Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.”

4.5 Paragraph 110 states that applications for development should:

‘a)  give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the 
scheme and with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible to 
facilitating access to high quality public transport, with layouts that 
maximise the catchment area for bus or other public transport services, 
and appropriate facilities that encourage public transport use; 

b)  address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in 
relation to all modes of transport; 

c)  create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the 
scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid 
unnecessary street clutter, and respond to local character and design 
standards; 

d)  allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and 
emergency vehicles’

4.6 Paragraph 124 states that “the creation of high quality buildings and places is 
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve.  
Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities. Being clear about design expectations, and how these will be 
tested, is essential for achieving this. So too is effective engagement between 

Page 19



applicants, communities, local planning authorities and other interests 
throughout the process.” 

4.7 Paragraph 127 states that planning decisions should ensure that 
developments: 

“a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the 
short term but over the lifetime of the development; 

b)  are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 
appropriate and effective landscaping; 

c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding 
built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or 
discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as increased 
densities);

(d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of 
streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming 
and distinctive places to live, work and visit;

(e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an 
appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other 
public space) and support local facilities and transport networks; and

f)  create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 
health and well-being with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
users and where crime and disorder and the fear of crime, do not 
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience..”

4.8 Paragraph 170 requires planning decisions to enhance the natural and local 
environment by: 

“a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or 
geological value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory 
status or identified quality in the development plan);

b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the 
wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural 
land, and of trees and woodland;

c) maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving public 
access to it where appropriate;

d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by 
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current 
and future pressures;

e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at 
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels 
of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, 
wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as 
air and water quality, taking into account relevant information such as river 
basin management plans; and

f) remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and 
unstable land, where appropriate.”

Page 20



4.9 Paragraph 175 is concerned with the principles of decision making where 
there is a biodiversity interest which could be affected by development.  

“d) development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance 
biodiversity should be supported; while opportunities to incorporate 
biodiversity improvements in and around developments should be 
encouraged, especially where this can secure measurable net gains for 
biodiversity.”

Joint Core Strategy – Adopted 5th December 2017

4.10 Under Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
planning applications should be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The 
Joint Core Strategy (JCS) forms part of the Development Plan and provides 
the strategic policy for development across the three administrative areas of 
Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury until 2031.  Tewkesbury Borough 
Council formally adopted the Joint Core Strategy (5th December 2017) along 
with Gloucester City Council (23rd November 2017) and Cheltenham Borough 
Council (11th December 2017).  The JCS contains a number of strategic 
objectives, one of which (Objective 7) is the promotion of sustainable 
transport, reducing the need to travel and reliance on the car by improving 
opportunities for public transport, walking and cycling by making routes more 
convenient, safe and attractive.  Objective 9 is concerned with promoting 
healthy communities by enhancing opportunities for high quality education 
working in partnership to encourage healthy lifestyles through access to key 
community facilities and sustainable transport as well as ensuring that 
environmental quality and air quality is protected.  

JCS Policy INF1 – Transport Network

1.  Developers should provide safe and accessible connections to the 
transport network to enable travel choice for residents and commuters. All 
proposals should ensure that:

i. Safe and efficient access to the highway network is provided for all 
transport modes;

ii. Connections are provided, where appropriate, to existing walking,  
cycling and passenger transport networks and should be designed 
to encourage maximum potential use;

iii. All opportunities are identified and taken, where appropriate, to 
extend and/or modify existing walking, cycling and public transport 
networks and links, to ensure that credible travel choices are 
provided by sustainable modes.

2. Planning permission will be granted only where the impact of development 
is not considered to be severe.  Where severe impacts that are attributable 
to the development are considered likely, including as a consequence of 
cumulative impacts, they must be mitigated to the satisfaction of the Local 

Page 21



Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authorities and in line 
with the Local Transport Plan.

3. Developers will be required to assess the impact of proposals on the 
transport network through a Transport Assessment.  The assessment will 
demonstrate the  impact, including cumulative impacts, of the prospective 
development on:

a) Congestion on the transport network
b) Travel safety within the zone of influence of the development
c) Noise and/or atmospheric pollution within the zone of influence 

of the development

4. Where appropriate the local planning authority may require applications to 
be accompanied by a Travel Plan that has full regard to the criteria set out 
in the NPPF.

4.11 The supporting text of Policy INF1 makes reference to the potential for short - 
distance trips to transfer where appropriate to non-car modes, such as public 
transport, walking or cycling - something which the NPPF3 considers to be a 
core planning principle.  The policy recognises that to enable the transfer to 
non-car modes requires a co-ordinated approach across several policy and 
delivery areas and the JCS seeks to achieve this through its policies on 
design and infrastructure.  The role of the Development Plan is to reflect, 
support and enable the implementation of transport objectives of the Local 
Transport Plan through its land-use policies and proposals.  The Local 
Transport Plan is the key strategy for the delivery of essential transport 
infrastructure to support the delivery of growth identified in the JCS and sits 
alongside the JCS.

JCS Policy SD9: Biodiversity and Geodiversity

1 The biodiversity and geological resource of the JCS area will be protected 
and enhanced in order to establish and reinforce ecological networks that 
are resilient to current and future pressures. Improved community access 
will be encouraged so far as is compatible with the conservation of special 
features and interests.

2. This will be achieved by:

i. Ensuring that European Protected Species and National Protected 
Species are safeguarded in accordance with the law

ii. Conserving and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity on 
internationally, nationally and locally designated sites, and other assets 
of demonstrable value where these make a contribution to the wider 
network, thus ensuring that new development both within and 
surrounding such sites has no unacceptable adverse impacts 

iii. Encouraging new development to contribute positively to biodiversity 
and geodiversity whilst linking with wider networks of green 
infrastructure. For example, by incorporating habitat features into the 

Page 22



design to assist in the creation and enhancement of wildlife corridors 
and ecological stepping stones between sites

iv. Encouraging the creation, restoration and beneficial management of 
priority landscapes, priority habitats and populations of priority species. 
For example, by securing improvements to Strategic Nature Areas (as 
set out on the Gloucestershire Nature Map) and Nature Improvement 
Areas.

3. Any development that has the potential to have a likely significant effect on 
an international site will be subject to a Habitats Regulations Assessment.

4. Within nationally designated sites, development will not be permitted unless 
it is necessary for appropriate on -site management measures, and 
proposals can demonstrate that there will be no adverse impacts on the 
notified special interest features of the site.

5. Development within locally designated sites will not be permitted where it 
would have an adverse impact on the registered interest features or criteria 
for which the site was listed, and harm cannot be avoided or satisfactorily 
mitigated. 

6 Harm to the biodiversity or geodiversity of an undesignated site or asset 
should be avoided where possible. Where there is a risk of harm as a 
consequence of development, this should be mitigated by integrating 
enhancements into the scheme that are appropriate to the location and 
satisfactory to the local planning authority. If harm cannot be mitigated on 
site then, exceptionally, compensatory enhancements off site may be 
acceptable.

4.12 The supporting text of the policy advises enhancements will be secured 
through the design of the development and via planning conditions.

Cheltenham Borough Local Plan

4.13 The Cheltenham Borough Local Plan adopted in 2006 contains a number of 
‘saved’ policies which have not been replaced by the JCS and will remain in 
place until replaced by the emerging Local Plan.  The emerging Cheltenham 
Plan 2011-2031 was subject to examination during February 2019.  The 
emerging plan shows the school site as being adjacent to but outside of the 
principal urban area and with no specific policy designation.  Land 
immediately north and west of the school is shown to be allotment land to 
which Policy CI3 applies.  The policy aims to protect allotment land from 
development.  A mixed use allocation referenced as ‘MD5 – Leckhampton’ for 
approximately 250 dwellings and a secondary school is proposed on land to 
the south of Shurdington Road and east of Kidnappers Lane.  Draft Policy H2 
allocates this 15 ha site for mixed use development.  The emerging Plan also 
includes Draft Policy GI1: Local Green Space which allocates land to the 
south of the mixed use allocation MD5 and land to the north west of 
Shurdington Primary School as Local Green Space.  The policy aims to 
protect designated areas from development unless there are very special 
circumstances which outweigh the harm.  The development of school playing 
fields associated with the allocation of the secondary school site off 
Kidnappers Lane is specifically mentioned as being an appropriate use of 

Page 23



Local Green Space land.  These emerging Plan policies according to the 
NPPF3 are afforded limited weight before adoption.  

4.14 The following ‘saved’ policies of the adopted Cheltenham Borough Local Plan 
are considered to be relevant to the determination of this application:

Policy CP4 – Safe and sustainable living

Development will be permitted only where it would:

(a) not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of adjoining land users 
and the locality (notes 1- 4); and

(b)  not result in levels of traffic to and from the site attaining an 
environmentally unacceptable level; and

(c) make adequate provision for security and the prevention of crime and 
disorder (note 5); and

(d) not, by nature of its size, location, layout or design, give rise to crime or 
the significant fear of crime or endanger public safety; and

(e) maintain the vitality and viability of the town centre and district and local 
shopping facilities.

Policy CP 7 - Design

Development will only be permitted where it:

(a) is of a high standard of architectural design; and
(b) adequately reflects principles of urban design; and
(c) complements and respects neighbouring development and the 

character of the locality and/or landscape 

Extensions or alterations of existing buildings will be required to avoid:

(d) causing harm to the architectural integrity of the building or group of 
buildings; and

(e) the unacceptable erosion of open space around the existing building. 

Policy BE11 Buildings of Local Importance

The demolition of, or harmful alteration of a building on the Index of Buildings 
of Local Importance will be resisted.

Other District Council Policy
 
Leckhampton and Warden Hill Neighbourhood Plan

4.15 On 15th September 2015, Cheltenham Borough Council approved the 
designation of a neighbourhood area covering Leckhampton with Warden Hill 
Parish made under Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Regulation 5(1) and 
the Localism Act 2011 to enable the Parish Council to undertake 
neighbourhood planning and prepare a neighbourhood plan.  To be adopted 

Page 24



by the Borough Council, the neighbourhood plan must be in general 
conformity with the development strategy and polices set out in existing 
development plans.  Cheltenham Borough Council’s website shows no 
neighbourhood plan has been adopted for this area to date.  

Other County Council Policy

Gloucestershire County Council Climate Change Commitment

4.16 On the 15th May 2019, Gloucestershire County Council endorsed a climate 
change emergency and committed to help deliver a carbon neutral County by 
2050.  Councillors agreed at Full Council to work with partners to identify what 
measures are needed to deliver a stepped target of 80 percent reduction of 
carbon emissions by 2030.  This commitment refers to the inclusion in the 
Council’s major strategies such as the Local Transport Plan to having clearly 
identified strategies to reduce carbon emissions.

4.17 While not part of the Development Plan, this Council’s Climate change 
commitment could be considered a material consideration when determining 
planning applications.   

Gloucestershire’s Local Transport Plan 2015 – 2031

4.18 Whilst not part of the Development Plan, the adopted Local Transport Plan 
(LTP) is a material consideration when determining planning applications.  
The LTP sets out the long-term transport strategy up to 2031.  It aims to 
influence how and when individuals choose to travel so that individual travel 
decisions do not cumulatively result in the failure of the transport network, 
negatively impacting on the desirability of Gloucestershire as a place to live, 
work and invest.  The LTP will shortly be reviewed as new priorities emerge 
and will be subject to public consultation early in 2020.  

4.19 The LTP explains that Gloucestershire County Council is the local Highway 
and the Transport Authority and does not have resources to address 
problems without close partnership working and shared responsibility of 
parish and district councils, businesses, transport operators and individuals.  
Funding streams are needed to support the delivery of the strategy.  It is no 
longer the function of a LTP to identify funding for transport.  Funding 
contributions may be obtained from developers of land through planning 
obligation agreements with local planning authorities to mitigate the impact of 
development in line with policies of the NPPF3.  

5.0 REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 The application was publicised by site notices dated 12th April 2019 and a 
press notice in the Gloucestershire Echo newspaper on the 25th April 2019.  
The expiry date for comments was 9th May and 22nd May 2019 respectively.  

Page 25



5.2 Forty three neighbour notification letters were sent to adjoining residents 
between the 1st May 2019 and 13th May 2019 with comments requested within 
28 days from the date of the letter.  A total of 20 objections have been 
recorded, although some were sent direct to Cheltenham Borough Council 
and to the County Council’s Democratic Services.  A summary of issues 
raised were:

 Transport Statement is flawed and contradictory in relation to highway 
safety issues.  This is not an impartial highway survey.  Inadequate 
transport survey carried out, ignoring Church Road.  

 Does not take account of new housing development planned 1.2 km away 
or new school in Kidnappers Lane; Impacts through traffic and severe 
cumulative impact on local roads.  No workable solutions to traffic 
congestion have been suggested;

 Proposed highway improvements considered insufficient and only make 
existing parking problems worse and rely on co-operation by parents.  
More tangible and costly solutions are the responsibility of the County 
Council.  Need for joined up thinking; 

 Increase in vehicular traffic resulting from expansion which these 
proposals do not address; 

 Church Road and Hall Road are lined with residential parking.  Proposed 
plan leads to less parking but more traffic.  Roads would be narrowed if 
pavement parking were not allowed, leading to problems for emergency 
vehicles and residents getting to work;

 Increase in air pollution from cars idling outside the school has not been 
addressed.  Levels of particulates in the air around the school are already 
too high.  Cheltenham has been an AQMA for 10 years;

 Existing single line parking restriction should be extended to double line 
no parking as parking will prevent access to the new entrance, particularly 
for emergency vehicles; 

 Hall Road cannot support additional pedestrian access and support for 
another pedestrian access to the rear of the school;

 Disappointed that tree survey was not commissioned at start of design 
process as little or no new tree planting;

 Public consultation botched as reference numbers and dates are different 
on GCC website. Cheltenham Borough Council is only a consultee. 
Highways have not been consulted;

 Such a decision should be made by Planning Committee and decision not 
made without local residents being able to object.  Huge local objection to 
Education Department where objections were lost.  The County Council is 
both the proposer and assessor of the application and decisions must be 
open to full scrutiny.  Deliberate attempt to deny residents their legal 
rights;  

 Proper attention has not been drawn to the proposals which appear to be 
a small extension when it is a 50% expansion costing £4,000,000;

 No information given from where new admissions would come from, if 
from new Redrow homes then a new school should be built there to 
accommodate them and avoid traffic congestion and environmental 

Page 26



damage.  These residents will not walk along the busy Leckhampton Lane 
or walk across flooded fields; 

 If Leckhampton Primary School is full there are other local schools with 
spare places totalling 37.  Statistical analysis shows greatest pressure for 
school places exists on north side of Cheltenham and points to 
development of Leckhampton Primary based on parental preference not 
actual requirement;

 This application should be considered at the same time as Warden Hill 
Primary expansion.  Concern same approach to increase capacity at 
Warden Hill Primary School.  If permit Leckhampton then no need to build 
a new school.  Suggest new school beside new secondary school on 
Kidnappers Lane is a safer site.  Concern that other school expansion in 
the area and the impact on infrastructure have not been properly 
assessed or planned, unfair on residents;

 Dangerous, obstructive parking on pavements and need for pedestrian 
crossing.  Problem recruiting school crossing patrol person;  

 Unsafe to cycle to school;
 Buses have been held up and have been rerouted;
 Lack of enforcement of weight restriction;  
 Suggestions for 20mph speed limit School Safety Zone, painted parking 

bays outside neighbouring residential properties over extended area;
 Loss of outdoor green space and trees.  Benefits have been 

underestimated.  Objection to the lack of preservation orders on trees 
which would have occurred for other development.  Concern over the 
killing of moles on playing field.  Land and hedgerows bordering the 
school site are well established for wildlife and should be protected.  Bat 
population may be affected by lighting and car park.  Development on the 
school site would affect the frogs and slow worms on the adjacent 
allotment land.  

 An additional footpath through the allotments would require the felling of a 
mature tree and harm land occupied by slow worm, bats and birds;  

 Government has declared a Climate Change Emergency and need to act 
on it.  Irresponsible to proceed without solution to peak hour traffic 
congestion.  Cheltenham Borough Council has committed to use the 
planning system to reduce carbon emissions.  No information about 
tackling climate breakdown can be found on the County Council website.  
Need to stop the school run madness;

 MUGA is inappropriate and insufficient play area given the increase in 
pupil numbers and is unfenced;

 Ambient noise levels from school increasing making relaxing in the garden 
more difficult. Pre-After School classroom is at capacity and creates 
unacceptable noise outside school hours for near neighbour.  Old school 
rooms should not be used for out of hours;

 Village of Leckhampton is under constant threat from new development 
which increases the importance of heritage buildings such as the old 
school rooms and their preservation as essential village ingredients;

 Until a robust plan for tacking traffic issues on the roads surrounding the 
school is in place, planning permission for the extension should not be 
given.

Page 27



5.3 Following the submission of a variety of amended plans and documents to try 
to address the issues raised in the original publicity of this planning 
application, an additional round of consultation was carried out on 12th June 
2019 with the original consultees and those who had made representations on 
the proposals.  Comments were requested by 3rd July 2019.  

5.4 At the time of writing, one further response was received from a neighbouring 
property following the notification of further information and amended plans 
had been submitted in relation to this planning application.  This objection 
related to the impact of noise nuisance from the use of the breakfast club 
building which is not proposed to be changed by these proposals.  The 
occupiers request that the breakfast club is relocated to far side of the school 
site, away from their bedroom windows.   

6.0 CONSULTATIONS

Cheltenham Borough Council

6.1 Cheltenham Borough Council has no objection to the proposal and 
recommends that the Tree Officer’s comments that further details are 
submitted before the commencement of works are considered.

Cheltenham Borough Council’s Tree Officer

6.2 The Tree Officer commented that: 

“It is disappointing that no BS5837 (2012) tree survey was commissioned at 
the start of this proposed design so tree constraints could be taken account of 
when designing this scheme. As such it is proposed to remove several trees, 
some of which are of high quality and/or have a long future life expectancy. It 
is T8 Indian Bean Tree which is the tree with the highest amenity within the 
site and is due to be removed so as to facilitate the new Main Hall and 
adjacent kitchen, servery, PE store etc. However this tree is not visible from 
the public sphere and so has no public amenity. Nevertheless, generous re-
planting proposals should be put into place to mitigate for the loss of this tree 
and others within the site. 3 of these trees (T’s 1,2,&4)-purple leaved plums 
and flowering cherry are situated adjacent to Hall Rd and so have much 
amenity. It is not clear why it is necessary to remove T’s 1+2-please could this 
be clarified. 

It is noted that nearly all trees within the school grounds are mature. There is 
little/no new tree planting. Such a planning proposal is a good opportunity to 
replant with new trees. Whilst it is proposed to plant more than are being 
felled, the overall canopy cover will reduce as a result of this application and 
the tree planting proposal drawing PL101 is the absolute minimum number 
required to mitigate for proposed tree losses. 

Page 28



Detailed tree planting scheme should be submitted and agreed prior to the 
implementation of any development-such planting plans must include, 
species, location, size, root type, watering regime for the first 2 years. Such a 
tree planting scheme must take account of the future shade cast and water 
demand on the allotment site to the north. A tree protection plan (based on 
BS5837 (2012)) protection distances must be submitted and agreed.”

6.3 Following the submission of amended and additional information relating to 
trees, the District Council’s Tree Officer commented that a rich and suitable 
palette of native and exotic trees to be planted as mitigation for proposed tree 
losses had been selected and that, subject to a minimum of ‘standard’ sized 
trees being planted (2.5 - 3 metres in height and 8-10 cm girth) with a suitable 
aftercare regime put in place, the Tree Section has no further objection.

Cheltenham Borough Council’s Environmental Health Officer

6.4 Following comments made by some objectors and the local County Councillor 
in relation to increased in air pollution outside the school referenced in an air 
quality survey carried outside some schools in the county, the District 
Environmental Health Officer (EHO) was asked if there were any air quality 
concerns in relation to this proposal.  The EHO confirmed that he was aware 
of the survey of air pollutants around 7 schools in Gloucestershire by Enviro 
Technology Services Limited, dated 20th June 2017 and commented: 

“In my opinion the short term duration of the monitoring and the accuracy of 
the results are very questionable.  Air pollution as a general rule is measured 
via diffusion tubes which provide a monthly average. The evidence and 
monitoring we have done as a council over the years indicates that although 
there will be ‘peaks’ of pollution around drop-off and collection at school times 
this will not lead to breaches of actionable levels. This has meant we do not 
currently monitor in the area.”

6.5 The EHO was asked if he considered that there should be any specific air 
quality planning conditions and commented:

“It’s pleasing to see that the School Travel Plan does include a 20% target to 
reduce car travel modes which I note is up from the 10% target of the original. 
I agree with you that annual monitoring of the Travel Plan would be a good 
idea so I would be happy to see this added as part of a condition or a full 
condition on its own.”

Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council

6.6 Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council has major concerns over the 
proposal to expand Leckhampton Primary School and wishes to draw three 
related issues to the attention of the Planning Committee: the heavy traffic 
congestion around the school, the high pollution levels measured outside the 
school, and the case for retaining the proposed new rear entrance to the 
school from Burrows Field. 

Page 29



“Traffic congestion 

The traffic problems with the proposed expansion are serious given the very 
bad congestion in Church Road in the morning traffic period and the way the 
traffic flow is already disrupted by traffic to the school and by parents 
manoeuvring vehicles. Church Road is also a key route to the proposed new 
secondary school on the GCC land at Farm Lane. If the expansion of 
Leckhampton Primary caused Church Road to become impassable in the 
school-run period this would have a big impact on the viability of the 
secondary school, particularly if there were many students coming to the 
secondary school from the Old Bath Road area and Charlton Park ward. The 
secondary school is only included in the Cheltenham Plan on the proviso that 
the traffic problems can be solved, and this proviso has been confirmed by 
Inspector Burden in examining the Plan.

Solving the traffic problem depends on several factors but strongly on whether 
the mitigation proposed by Gloucestershire Highways of adding a second in-
going lane on the A46 at the Moorend Park Road junction will increase the 
throughput of the junction sufficiently. At the transport session in the 
Cheltenham Plan Examination, Gloucestershire Highways proposed that the 
second in-going lane could be accommodated within the existing road width 
by making the lanes and pavements narrower. However, we have measured 
the road and pavement widths and we doubt that it is possible to 
accommodate the two lanes without unacceptably narrowing the pavements 
and the lanes. There is a problem with narrow lanes that the traffic will flow 
more slowly and this can negate much of the benefit of having two lanes. The 
impact of slower speeds in greatly worsening the long A46 traffic queue and 
travel times was starkly demonstrated last autumn when the A46 was 
resurfaced and cars were approaching the junction more slowly because of 
the rough road surface. The narrow lanes would also leave no room for 
cyclists and that means cyclist would have to be in line with the traffic, again 
slowing the vehicle speed as well as increasing the danger. Therefore the two 
lane scheme may require compulsory purchase of land from front gardens of 
the houses on the west side of the A46 so that the traffic lanes and 
pavements can be made sufficiently wide. There is then the issue of whether 
compulsory purchase would succeed, particularly because there is a potential 
alternative of expanding Balcarras School in order to cover the shortfall in 
secondary school places in Charlton Park.

The Leckhampton Primary expansion could turn out to be the critical factor in 
determining whether or not the secondary school is viable. This is something 
that should be carefully checked from traffic modelling at this stage. We are 
aware that the Paramics traffic modelling by Gloucestershire Highways covers 
the local traffic system including Church Road, Hall Road, Kidnappers Lane, 
Leckhampton Road and Moorend Park Road as well as the A46. Has this 
modelling been used to inform the decision about expanding Leckhampton 
Primary, and what is the model showing? 

The other key question is what can be done realistically to encourage parents 
to bring children to the school on foot rather than by car. Because the 

Page 30



expansion will increase the catchment radius of the school, many of the 210 
extra children may have to travel three-quarters of a mile or more to the 
school. Although the statutory walking distance for primary pupils is two miles, 
national statistics suggest that at least half of the 210 children are likely to 
come by car. Parents tell us that they just do not have the time to walk their 
children a considerable distance to and from the school, especially if they are 
working parents as the vast majority are. According to government statistics, 
Cheltenham has one of the highest employment rates in England for parents 
with dependent children: 96% for fathers, 89% for mothers in 2017, 
extrapolating to >90% for mothers in 2018, with at least a half of mothers with 
primary school children in Cheltenham likely to be working more than 30 
hours per week (reference: Families and the labour market, England - Office 
for National Statistics).

The primary school reception-year allocations that you have recently 
published suggest that even in this bulge year there are 34 reception places 
still unfilled at Cheltenham primary schools within 2 miles of Leckhampton 
Primary (Lakeside - 17, Naunton Park - 7, St. John's - 9 and Warden Hill - 1). 
There are also 12 unfilled places at Shurdington Primary. When planning 
permission was granted for the 377 houses being built west of Farm Lane it 
was on the basis that primary school children from that development would 
attend Shurdington Primary. But we are aware that the builders are promoting 
the new houses on the basis of being accessible to Leckhampton Primary. So 
the spare capacity at Shurdington Primary may be relevant to the need to 
expand Leckhampton Primary. You are also currently planning to expand 
Warden Hill Primary School to three form entry, which would add another 30 
reception places. So even though the educational case to expand 
Leckhampton Primary may be strong based on its OFSTED outstanding rating 
and its popularity with parents, it is still not absolutely essential to proceed 
with the expansion if the traffic problems dictate otherwise.

Pollution levels near Leckhampton Primary School

The Parish Council also has grave concerns over the levels of pollution at the 
school and the threat to the future health of the children there. GCC made a 
spot measurement of the pollution levels outside Leckhampton Primary 
School in March 2017. This showed an average level of NO2 of around 110 
micrograms per cubic metre (µg/m3) over the 08:00 to 09:00 period whilst 
children were travelling to the school. This level was twice as high as that 
measured by GCC at any other school and is worryingly close to the EU 
short-term exposure limit of 200 µg/m3 over an hour, not permitted to occur 
more than 18 times in a year. In the past year we have installed a network of 
NO2 sensors at various locations in the Parish including in Church Road. 
These provide measurements of the average NO2 levels, but unfortunately we 
have been unable, for technical reasons, to make any further spot 
measurements of short-term exposure to NO2 near the school over the 08:00 
to 09:00 period. We have, however, been able to make accurate 
measurements of pm10, pm2.5 and pm1.0 particulate levels at the school 
over the 08:00 to 09:00 period and these do show alarmingly high levels of 
particulate pollution on many days. 

Page 31



A copy of the measurements has been emailed to Tim Browne. They were 
made on 24 mornings in the period from Friday 12 October 2018 to Friday 30 
November 2018. On each occasion, 15 samples were taken covering the full 
hour 08:00 to 09:00, each sample being over a period of 4 minutes. Three of 
the 24 days occurred during the October half-term holiday and they showed 
the particulate level that one might expect for the peak traffic period in this 
busy road. The average pm2.5 levels over the hour were 17µg/m3, 10µg/m3 
and 4µg/m3 respectively on the three days during half-term. These levels 
should be compared against the EU permitted pm2.5 level of 25µg/m3 and the 
World Health Organisation (WHO) recommended permitted level of 10 µg/m3, 
those permitted levels being for the average level over a year rather than just 
during the peak traffic period. For primary school children the WHO limit is the 
appropriate level to use taking into account that pm2.5 particulates 
accumulate in the body over a lifetime causing cumulative harm and are also 
more threatening to children because their lungs and bodies are developing. 

On many of the school days the measured pollution levels of pm10, pm2.5 
and pm1.0 were very much higher than during the half-term holiday. For 
pm2.5 the average level over the hour was 26 µg/m3 on Monday 29 October, 
36 µg/m3 on Thursday 15 November, 47 µg/m3 on Thursday 1 November, 70 
µg/m3 on Thursday 22 November, 79 µg/m3 on Monday 26 November, 117 
µg/m3 on Friday 16 November, 126 µg/m3 on Monday 5 November, and a 
colossal 140 µg/m3 on Friday 23 November.

In the detailed data provided to Tim Browne, the individual 4 minute samples 
on the days with high pollution levels show the pollution levels building up 
steadily over the 08:00 to 09:00 period to reach a maximum level at about 
08:40 and remaining flat or declining slightly towards 09:00. This correlates 
with the degree of congestion and the way that the traffic to the school causes 
the traffic to build into long slow moving queues in both directions. Without the 
school traffic the vehicle flow is much faster with queues moving alternately in 
each direction rather than locked together. So it is a reasonable hypothesis, 
but no more than that, that the high pollution levels build up because the cars 
move so slowly and spend much more time near the school. 

The data shows a large variation in pollution levels from day to day. This does 
not seem to correlate with particular weather or wind direction and is probably 
due to various degrees of atmospheric inversion or air flow trapping the 
pollution near ground level. Church Road is narrow with houses on either side 
very close to the road and this adds to the risk of vehicle pollution being 
trapped. However, on some of the school days the measured pm2.5 level was 
quite low. So the average exposure of children at Leckhampton Primary will 
depend on how many days in the year have conditions that cause the 
pollution to be trapped near ground level. More measurements need to be 
made at various times of the year and also in summer when photolytic 
decomposition of the NO2 emissions will add to the particulate levels. 

We have not made any further measurements at the school since 30 
November, but we are planning to recommence measurements shortly. 

Page 32



However, we have checked the sensor against DEFRA standards and 
confirmed that the measurements are accurate. Again to put the 
measurements at Leckhampton Primary into perspective, London has an 
average pm 2.5 level of 12 µg/m3. So if we worry about the health of school 
children in London we also need to worry about Leckhampton Primary. Of 
course, the levels at Leckhampton Primary will not be as high over the whole 
day as they are in the peak traffic period. But 08:00 to 09:00 and particularly 
08:30 to 08:50 when the levels in Church Road are highest (peaking at 169 
µg/m3 from 08:40 to 08:48 on 23 November) is the time when children are 
arriving at the school. 

The threat to school children from traffic pollution and particularly from pm2.5 
has been highlighted in the press very recently. The Times on 9th May 2019 
carried the front page headline 'School air pollution scandal' and has launched 
an urgent campaign for a new clean air act including proposals for temporary 
traffic bans outside schools at drop-off and pick-up times. It would be possible 
to exclude non-resident cars from around many primary schools including 
Warden Hill Primary between 08:00 and 09:00. But it would be impossible to 
apply this to Leckhampton Primary because Church Road is a major traffic 
route round Cheltenham. 

It therefore seems to the Parish Council that it would be dangerous to proceed 
with the expansion of Leckhampton Primary without more information about 
the pollution and a plan of what to do if further measurements demonstrate 
that the health hazards to children at the school are unacceptable. Certainly it 
seems unwise to rush into expanding the school or extending its catchment 
since that would promote more travel to the school by car. GCC also needs to 
consider the impact of the expansion on the viability of the proposed new 
secondary school if it is located on the GCC land at Farm Lane, particularly if 
that school is intended to cover the shortfall in secondary school places for 
students living in Charlton Park. 

Rear entrance to the school

The public consultation last year on expanding Leckhampton Primary included 
a proposal for creating a new rear entrance to the school via a short foot/cycle 
path between the school playing fields and the existing cycle path in Burrows 
Playing Field. The proposed path was across an abandoned corner of the 
allotment land that is between the school and Burrows Field and that is owned 
by the County Council. The Parish Council thought that this rear entrance was 
a very good idea because it provided off-road routes for children to walk and 
cycle to the school away from dangerous and heavily polluted roads. This 
seemed a win-win for both health and safety. A parent survey carried out by 
the school showed that a new rear entrance would be well used.

The Parish Council was therefore surprised and disappointed to find that this 
proposal for a rear entrance has been omitted from the current plans for 
extending the school. At its recent meeting the Parish Council, including the 
four County and Borough councillors who are members of the Parish Council, 
agreed unanimously to draw this matter to the attention of the GCC Planning 

Page 33



Committee. The builders under contract to deliver the planned extension have 
estimated that this new "green corridor" into the rear of the school would cost 
approximately £40,000. This is a significant cost but it needs to be seen in the 
context of a cost of £3.9 million for the projected school expansion as a whole.

Borough and County Council members of the Parish Council have met with 
the Head Teacher, Sam Porter, to discuss the issue, pointing out to her that 
the access to Burrows Field would also have the benefit of enabling the 
school to make more use of Burrows Playing Field, which is almost next door 
to the school but a long way from the school by road. 

We understand that the main objection to the rear entrance is that it might 
compromise safeguarding. We appreciate this concern, but the rear-access 
could be kept locked except when children are travelling to and from the 
school and CCTV surveillance is also possible. Many primary schools have 
more than one entrance and at many primary schools a member of staff is at 
each school gate to welcome pupils. Safeguarding has assumed huge 
political weight in recent years. But travelling to Leckhampton Primary School 
by road or by car also carries a weighty risk both from traffic and pollution. 
Overall, therefore, we believe that the new rear entrance makes a lot of sense 
and we question whether it is rational or well-balanced to have removed it 
from the plans.”

6.7 Following reconsultation on the amended plans and documents, the Parish 
Council provided the following comments:

“Introduction
Thank you for the opportunity to provide further comments to our earlier 
responses dated 3 Oct 18, 14 Nov 18, 8th and 9th May 19. Our key concern 
still to be addressed is that we remain convinced it is extremely important to 
provide a rear entrance for pupils approaching from the direction of Burrows 
Field. We believe this will lead to reduced traffic approaching the school, less 
congestion, less danger for pupils coping with busy roads and less pollution 
affecting the health of young children. In other words, it should help provide a 
safer and healthier environment for the whole school. 

Background
To remind you of the background, the public consultation last year on 
expanding Leckhampton Primary included a proposal for creating a new rear 
entrance to the school via a short foot/cycle path between the school playing 
fields and the existing cycle path in Burrows Playing Field. The proposed path 
was across an abandoned corner of the allotment land that is between the 
school and Burrows Field and that is owned by the County Council. The 
Parish Council thought that this rear entrance was a very good idea because it 
provided off-road routes for children to walk and cycle to the school away from 
dangerous and heavily polluted roads. This seemed a win-win for both health 
and safety. A parent survey carried out by the school showed that a new rear 
entrance would be well used.

Page 34



The Parish Council was therefore surprised and disappointed to find that this 
proposal for a rear entrance had been omitted from the current plans for 
extending the school. At a recent meeting the Parish Council, including the 
four County and Borough councillors who are members of the Parish Council, 
agreed unanimously to draw this matter to the attention of the GCC Planning 
Committee. The builders under contract to deliver the planned extension have 
estimated that this new “green corridor” into the rear of the school would cost 
approximately £40,000. This is not a significant cost, as it is just 1% of the 
£4M budget for the overall project.

We understand that the main objection to the rear entrance is that it might 
compromise safeguarding. We appreciate this concern, but the rear-access 
could be kept locked except when children are travelling to and from the 
school and CCTV surveillance is also possible. Many primary schools have 
more than one entrance and at many primary schools a member of staff (or 
qualified parent) is at each school gate to welcome pupils. Safeguarding has 
assumed huge political weight in recent years. But travelling to Leckhampton 
Primary School by road or by car also carries a weighty risk both from traffic 
and pollution. Overall, therefore, we believe that the new rear entrance makes 
a lot of sense and we continue to question whether it is rational or well-
balanced to have removed it from the plans.

Summary
With a 50% increase in school size we should be doing everything possible to 
increase modal shift from cars and buses, towards cycling and walking.  We 
hope you will reconsider your position and restore the plans for this new 
pedestrian entrance.”

Local Member

6.8 Councillor Iain Dobie, (the Local Member) for Leckhampton and Warden Hill 
Division, considers that the current expansion plans should be modified to 
incorporate a new rear pedestrian entrance to the school on the grounds of:

a)  health and safety and 
b)  sustainability.

6.9 The Local Member considers that serious consideration should be given to 
these factors.  He advised that he was confident that by the date of the 
Planning Committee that, “the County Council will have backed a motion at 
the May Council Meeting calling for GCC to adopt as its policy that it will take 
action to dramatically reduce carbon dioxide emissions.  If the Leckhampton 
Primary School building plan is approved without the "green corridor" 
additional access to the rear of the school, which would significantly 
encouraging walking and cycling and thus reduce car usage, then it would 
thus go against GCC policy.”

6.10 On receiving a copy of the Highway Authority’s comments to the amended 
information, the Local Member commented:

Page 35



“1. It is disappointing that this response does not address the issue of the 
safety of children walking to Leckhampton Primary from the new Redrow 
development of 370 houses to the west of the ward.

I have been contacted by the parent of one such child who is very concerned 
that the footway on the route between the Redrow estate and the school is 
unsafe.

Specifically, there is no separation between footpath and road at the point 
nearly opposite Leckhampton Parish Church where a farm building juts out. 
Instead, a white line has merely been drawn onto the road surface!

As you must know, this is a very busy “cut-through” road, particularly during 
the morning rush hour/school drop off time.

And yet you have not addressed this danger (and hence, apart from the 
obvious risk, the obvious disincentive to walk to school from a major new 
development which will generate many school pupils).

2. Similarly, your response takes no account of the 200+ new homes to be 
built to the south of Leckhampton along the A46 Shurdington Road.  The 
natural “desire line” for children coming from this estate to Leckhampton 
Primary would be over fields and in through the mooted rear entrance which 
this response dismisses.

Some six hundred new houses are being built around this part of 
Leckhampton.  As points 1 and 2 demonstrate, it is very disappointing against 
the background of this changing reality that this response shows no sign of 
“future proofing”. 

Lead Local Flood Authority

6.11 The Lead Local Flood Authority having considered surface water 
management has no objections and no planning conditions are 
recommended.  

Sport England

6.12 Following the submission of a holding objection by Sport England, further 
information regarding existing and proposed playing pitch layout and details of 
the MUGA surface was submitted on 17th April 2019 by the applicant, which 
allowed Sport England to withdraw their objection.

Western Power Distribution

6.13 Western Power owns and operates a substation adjacent to the school’s 
southern boundary.  While not objecting to the expansion of the school and 
the use of the emergency access from Church Road as a pedestrian access 
to the school, they made observations that they require 24 hour unhindered 
access to that substation and this cannot be compromised, so their locking 

Page 36



system or a dual locking system must be in place during out of hours.  Any 
new security fencing installation must also be mindful of cable locations.  
Consideration must also be taken that, should an underground fault occur, 
Western Power will be excavating to repair which may cause a period of 
disruption to the access route.  The company requested a discussion or 
meeting with the school/developer to work together ensuring that their rights 
are upheld and also that health and safety of the public and our 
representatives our considered.

Highway Authority

6.14 The County Highways Advisor (CHA), having reviewed the submitted 
transport assessment entitled ‘Transport Statement’ (TS) and also the 
‘Leckhampton School Travel Plan’ (STP), requested further information in 
relation to the vehicle flows at the Church Road/Hall Road and Church 
Road/Leckhampton Road junctions, clarification of the Non Motorised User 
audit route deficiencies and parking management strategy measures to 
manage parking demand.  

6.15 The Travel Plan Officer reviewed the STP which was initially submitted with a 
10% target reduction in single occupancy vehicle trips.  However, it was noted 
that the tables only illustrate a 2% pupil reduction and 8% for staff which 
needed to be clarified/revised as necessary. It was considered this target 
needs to be revised to be more stretching.

6.16 On reconsultation with the Transport Addendum (TA) to the TS and revised 
STP, the CHA initially commented on the 21st June 2019 and subsequently 
updated their comments on 11th July 2019 to revise the wording of 
recommended planning conditions as follows : 

“The above application is assessed on the based submitted Transport 
Statement (TS), Travel Plan (TP) and subsequent Transport Addendum (TA).  
The proposed application is description is for; 'a new hall with kitchen and 
staff facilities; extension of entrance and reception area; creation of a new 
pedestrian access, relocated vehicular access & extended car park; provision 
of a Multi Use Games Area and associated works', however as per the 
Transport Statement (TS); However the application is also proposing an 
expansion that will result in a 1 form entry expansion.  Increasing the capacity 
of the school to 630 pupils (162 pupil increase) from 468 on the roll in the 
2018/19 year.  There will be an increase in staff members by an additional 5 
full-time members of staff, 5 part-time teaching partners, 5 mid-day 
supervisors and 3 members of support team (equivalent of additional 11.5 
FTE staff) above the 33.5 equivalent full time existing staff.

It is noted there have been a number of comments and objections by 
stakeholders including councillors, public, residents, parish council and others 
regarding the proposed expansion and school works including highway 
concerns regarding trip generation, parking, traffic, traffic regulation orders, 
pedestrian access and modal shift amongst wider comments on the 
application.

Page 37



Site Location and Accessibility;
The site is located on Hall Road a Class 4 highway with footways and street 
lighting connecting to the surrounding highways which also have footways and 
lighting with all subject to a 30mph speed limit. Current vehicle and pedestrian 
site access is onto adjacent Hall Road.

There are existing waiting restrictions on adjacent Hall Road as well as the 
surrounding roads as identified in the TS which are operational during school 
opening hours.

The site is a suburban edge of town location which is considered relatively 
sustainable with the majority of the school surveyed pupil catchment area 
within reasonable walking/scooting/cycle distance. The TS states ‘the vast 
majority of pupils are living within 1.2km… which equates to a 15 minute 
walking time…considered to be the maximum walking distance for LPS’ 
(Leckhampton Primary School) pupils. Continuing it is ‘feasible a significant 
proportion of pupils will be able to walk/scooter or cycle to the school’ It is 
noted that from the existing school pupil surveys 54% of pupils either walk, 
cycle or scooter to the school demonstrating its accessibility and potential for 
modal shift. According to postcode data 72.1% of current postcodes are within 
a 15 minute walk to the school and 83% are within 2km of the school.

There are also frequent service bus stops within walking distance on 
Leckhampton Road for more distant pupil and staff origins to the site. It is 
noted that both the pupil and staff surveys have only demonstrated a few 
users. However bus stops have flags, shelters inbound to Cheltenham and 
raised curb footway connections to the site convenient for further use only 
320-360 metres from the school.

Therefore it is considered in this suburban location within near distance of the 
majority of the schools catchment pupil population that its expansion allows 
the potential for significant modal shift through the implementation of suitable 
STP measures. It has been demonstrated by the existing school travel 
surveys that even currently at 64%, the greater proportion of pupils travel to 
school sustainably and through suitable STP measures this modal share can 
be increased for both existing and proposed expansion pupils. The majority of 
staff although representing the minority of school trips travel by car and the 
STP will equally target increasing the staff sustainable modal shift.

The application includes a proposed addition pedestrian access from the 
school south onto Church Road with a tactile drop kerb crossing over Church 
Road improving accessibility for pupils associated parents/guardians and 
raised by parents/guardians and staff in questionnaires.

Local stakeholders including the area councillor have stated that a new 
footway access should be provided to the rear of the school site through the 
allotments to the Burrows.  A response has been provided by Leckhampton 
Primary School that this has not been included due to security and 
safeguarding, provision and maintenance of required linking footpaths outside 

Page 38



and inside the school boundaries, public concerns regarding the impact on the 
allotments and mixed public consultation feedback about use of the route. It is 
considered that despite the provision of a new rear access across the 
allotments to the public right of way and Burrows offering an alternative off-
road route to the school it is not on a current specific desire line from the 
majority of the school pupil origins identified in the TS via the existing 
residential areas, would require separate consultation and permission to 
provide a pathway link over allotments and surrounding land, and would 
require significant investment with lighting, widening, surfacing and boundary 
treatment works which could not be justified for extension.

The TS including a non-motorised user route audit (Walking, Cycling and 
Horse Rider Assessment and Review) of five routes to the school identified as 
the most likely to be used by those travelling to the school. These audits have 
identified a number of issues with the routes for users which included north to 
Leckhampton Road, north via Arden Rd and Moorend Grove, southwest via 
Church Road, south via Church Road, and via Church Road and 
Leckhampton Road. The audit review concluded that the routes to the site 
were sufficient. It is considered based on the demand generated by additional 
estimated and STP mode share target pedestrians as well as accessibility for 
all user abilities that the following identified route issues should be mitigated 
as part of this development;

 Tactile drop kerb footway crossing provided on Arden Road at junction 
with Hall Road;

 Pedestrian guardrail installed on Hall Road footway opposite footpath 
entrance between 8 and 10 Charnwood Road;

 Tactile paving of drop kerb footway crossing on Hall Road at the 
junction with Moorend Road;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Charnwood Road at junction with Arden 
Road;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Arden Road at junction with Moorend 
Grove;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Moorend Grove between junctions of 
Peregrine Road and Arden Road junction;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Peregrine Road at junction with Moorend 
Grove;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing across Church Road opposite proposed 
school Church Road pedestrian access and;

 Relocated tactile pedestrian crossing on Hall Road in the vicinity of the 
Hall Road school accesses.

Traffic Generation and Impact;
The TS includes a survey of existing pupil and staff modal travel to the school. 
This survey of 417 of the 468 pupil on the 2018/19 school roll and 35 of the 52 
staff at the time illustrated 19% or 87 existing pupils based on the survey are 
picked up/dropped off by car alone with a further 17% or 79 car sharing. The 
remainder appear to arrive by sustainable modes with just under half of all 
pupils walking. Based on the survey the TS illustrate 71% or 37 of the staff 
travel by single occupancy car use.

Page 39



The TS notes these numbers during the AM and PM peak periods will be 
affected by before and after-school activities and absenteeism reducing 
impact during the peaks which may although not guaranteed reduce numbers 
of trips during AM and PM peak periods of the school operation. It is also 
noted that car share trips are based on two pupils car sharing per vehicle 
when it is recognised there could be more than two pupils per car share 
vehicle which is robust as it assumes worst case scenario.

The TS further notes potential future sibling car sharing which may although 
not guaranteed reduce future vehicles trips to Leckhampton Primary School.

Based on the school travel surveys the additional 162 pupils and 11.5 staff 
resulting from the 1FE expansion of the school there could be an estimated 31 
single occupant and 13 car share pupil drop-offs/pick-ups additional vehicle 
trips generated or 88 two-way vehicle trips. In addition based on the travel 
survey there could be an additional 13 staff vehicle trips. It is noted as stated 
in the TS that based on absenteeism and current breakfast and after schools 
pupil numbers that these numbers could be lower potentially reducing pupil 
drop-offs and pick-ups.

Further evidence was sought regarding the absenteeism and school pre and 
post school activities, which was provided in the Transport Addendum (TA). 
This illustrated the numbers of pre and post school activities including 
breakfast club which starts at 7.45am before the 8.45am school day start and 
after school clubs which generally finish at 4.30pm after the school day ends 
at 3.30pm reducing peak school hour trips staggering arrivals and departures 
on the network. The TA illustrates the previous evidence of these on-going 
extra-curricular activities and planned continuation. On the basis of this 
evidence the reductions in peak school hour trips are accepted will reduce 
impact in the morning before the general network peak hour movements and 
in the afternoon which will be before the network peak hour movements.

The proposed STP had a conservative 10% modal shift target away from 
single occupant pupil vehicle drop offs. This is considered a low modal shift 
target given 83% of the school current catchment pupils are within of the 
pupils within 2km and 72.1% are within 15m walk demonstrating reasonable 
walking, scooting and cycle distance to the site. Therefore the TA and revised 
STP has following consultation set a larger 20% modal shift target away from 
single occupancy vehicle trips to The TA accounting for the a 10% modal shift, 
before school clubs and absenteeism has calculated the AM peak (8am-9am) 
impact of the expansion in estimated additional two-way vehicle trips of 52 (26 
vehicles). Based on school catchment general origin data and trip distribution 
through the main surrounding routes to the school provided the increase in 
estimated vehicle trips through the Leckhampton Road / Church Road junction 
of 26 two-way movements or 2.8% of traffic movements and the Moorend 
Road (Hall Road) / Leckhampton Road by 24 two-way movements or 1.9% of 
movements.

Page 40



The TA again accounting for a 10% modal shift, after school activities and 
absenteeism calculated the expansion could result in an additional 18 PM 
(3pm-4pm) vehicles or 36 two-way vehicle trips. Distributing these trips based 
on the origins of the school catchment data included in the TA and TS, these 
result in an estimated 18 additional two-way movements at the Leckhampton 
Road / Church Road junction (2.8% of total movements) and 16 additional 
two-way movements through the Moorend Road (Hall Road) / Leckhampton 
Road junction. These junctions demonstrated to have the highest distribution 
of associated school vehicle trips. 

Following the review and consultation the STP has been revised and the 
modal shift target increased to 20% for the target reduction in single 
occupancy car trips considering the modal shift potential based on proximity of 
the majority of the pupil distance to school. The TA provides a further AM and 
PM school peak hour assessment of the additional vehicle trips based on a 
20% modal shift of 25 two-way vehicle trips for the AM period and 15 PM two-
way vehicle trips. These additional vehicle trips although using sensitive 
junction would not be significant to warrant refusal.

School Travel Plan;
The STP has been submitted with a number of initiatives and measures to 
achieve a modal shift target of initially 10% reduction in single occupancy 
vehicle trips for the entire school for both existing and proposed staff, pupils, 
visitors, parents and guardians and subsequently increased to 20% following 
review.  The revised STP has been reviewed and the proposed STP 
measures accepted to achieve the STP targets and modal shift which will be 
subject to annual monitoring as part of the on-going review process to keep 
the STP up-to-date and achieve the greatest possible modal shift.

Highway Safety and Parking;
The TS includes the past 5 year collision data of collisions which were not in 
the immediate vicinity of the school shown in Appendix E includes two 
collisions which did not involve school age children and were attributed to 
driver error and a maintenance issue but not directly due to highway design or 
school activity.

It is noted there have been objections regarding the TS reference to the 
recorded collisions demonstrating these not being linked to school highway 
safety whilst also making reference to highway safety issues caused by 
parking on footways in the vicinity of the school giving apparent mixed 
messages. The collisions records have been checked and the causes 
confirmed as not being associated with the school activity, whilst the observed 
footway parking has been associated with school users this has not been 
linked to recorded collisions. Therefore notwithstanding the TS wording it is 
accepted that there is highway safety concerns associated with school users 
parking, but collisions in the vicinity cannot be associated.

It is noted and accepted as raised by stakeholders that the existing school 
generates a significant current on-street parking demand by the 
parents/guardians dropping off and picking up pupils in the AM and PM peak 

Page 41



periods observed on-site. There is no on-site vehicle parking for pupil drop-
offs/pick-ups or visitors therefore the TS includes a parking survey of the 
surrounding highways within 500m walking distance of the site (desirable 
walking distance to school according to IHT guidance) to determine on-street 
parking capacity during the peak periods of demand associated with the 
school.

The TS based on the parking surveys illustrates that the peak parking demand 
periods in the AM was 8.35-8.40am prior to the main school day at 8.45am 
and in the PM was 3.10pm-3.15pm with KS1 day ending at 3pm and KS2 day 
ending at 3.15pm. During which it has been illustrated approximately 44-45 
safe and legal on-street parking spaces sufficient to accommodate a vehicle 
were available within 500m. The parking surveys state that they have 
excluded the first 7.5m from junctions, crossovers, drop kerbs, build-outs, 
traffic islands, restricted by a waiting regulation order, below 6m in length or 
parking on opposing road side from on-street parking on one side would 
obstruct thoroughfare due to limited road width. This would be sufficient to 
accommodate the additional demand of the proposed expansion vehicle pupil 
vehicle trips set out in table 7.2 of the TS using the current modal split with no 
reduction accounting for modal shift as a result of the proposed STP, before 
and after school activity attendance evidenced in the subsequent TA, 
expected staggered arrivals/departures and absenteeism. 

The TS continues taking into account the initial 10% STP reduction in single-
occupancy vehicle trips affecting the entire school, 3% absenteeism, before 
school breakfast club starting 7.45am and after school activities that finish up 
to 6pm based on average attendance could reduce additional associated pupil 
drop-off/pick-up vehicles to an estimate of 33. The County Council has sought 
evidence to support the current and past attendance and operational hours of 
the before and after school activities and that these are committed to continue 
as well as accurate absenteeism records to account for reductions in potential 
vehicle trips and parking demand in assessment. The TA provides this 
evidence illustrating that a greater average number of pupils attend after 
school activities finishing between 4pm-6pm than the 85 previously stated in 
the TS. The TA also mentions that post-school childcare operates from 
3.15pm attended by an average of 65 pupils a day. These mentioned factors 
would be expected to reduce the parking demand at the peak periods.

It is noted that from on-site observations, stakeholder comments and recorded 
figures in the TS parking survey there is an element of vehicles associated 
with pupil drop-offs/pick-ups stopping at restricted locations including on Hall 
Road and Church Road and footway parking. However based on recorded 
vehicle numbers parking or stopping in restricted locations such as cross-
overs, double yellow lines and zig-zags the on-street parking space surveyed 
would cater for this existing demand and following STP reductions with 
staggered arrivals and departures associated with pre and post school 
activities on-street parking is sufficient.

The STP includes a proposed scheme to formalise parking on Hall Road and 
revise existing traffic regulation orders to formalise parking on the road and 

Page 42



reduce footway parking. This would be subject to a separate consultation and 
approval process however revisions to the existing traffic regulation orders 
and road markings may improve arrangements for both vehicle and non 
vehicular movements.

Site Access and Layout;
The proposed site access plans illustrate suitable visibility splays onto Hall 
Road for the vehicle site access as demonstrated on the submitted plans 
based on recorded vehicle speeds.

The swept path tracking demonstrates that expected service vehicles and 
buses could enter and exit the site in forward gear if not servicing from the 
highway.

The proposed relocated pedestrian accesses onto Hall Road are considered 
suitable providing additional and widened accesses improving site 
permeability by staff, pupils, parents/guardians and visitors off the existing 
footway to the benefit of pedestrians, cyclists and scooter users which should 
reduce pedestrian congestion entering/exiting the school grounds highlighted 
as an issue in parent/guardian questionnaire results.

The application proposes a new pedestrian into the school from the south with 
a new tactile drop kerb crossing over Church Road improving pedestrian 
accessibility into the site, reducing non-motorised user trip distance from the 
southwest, and raised by some parents/guardians and staff in questionnaires. 
This would be subject to a Local Transport Note assessment, design 
compliance check and road safety audit.

The proposed parking provision on-site for staff of 49 spaces including 5 
visitor spaces and 2 disabled is considered sufficient to meet estimated 
demand based on multi-modal staff trip surveys, part-time staff and 
accounting for modal shift in the STP. Based on existing staff multi-modal 
surveys of 74% of staff driving or car sharing there would be an estimated 13 
additional vehicle parking space demand, which will accommodate the 
existing observed staff demand of 27-30 vehicles and additional demand 
whilst allowing for visitor and disabled parking.

The site currently only provides 10 staff cycle parking spaces on site and no 
facilities for pupils or visitors including parents/guardians. The TS (TS) states 
based on pupil surveys there could be a demand for up to 12 cycles and 61 
scooters utilising existing provision and forecast cycle users is 5 and 22 
scooter trips. It is noted in the TS and was observed on-site there is significant 
existing scooter parking demand with scooters left in school railings. The TS 
states an additional 30 cycle spaces and 100 dedicated scooter spaces will be 
provided to accommodate existing and future demand. This is above the 
current local plan standard for the additional staff and pupil numbers 
associated with the expansion (STP) that only an additional 20 cycle parking 
spaces are mentioned. The site plan appears to illustrate 20 Sheffield style 
stands which although could provide 40 spaces appear too close together for 
two bicycles on each side of stands. Therefore should be set further apart and 

Page 43



located close to main school entrances included Hall Road entrances. It is 
considered to promote cycling in conjunction with the STP initiatives that a 
minimum of 30 cycle parking spaces will be sought within covered, lit and 
secure stores, which if parking is suitably spaced should be provided with 20 
stands providing 40 spaces.

The scooter stores are stated to accommodate 100 scooter spaces may 
require additional spacing to ensure access but are located between the new 
Hall Road and Church Road pedestrian accesses and school building 
entrances which are in principle acceptable.”

6.17 In summary, the CHA considers that the proposed development is acceptable 
on highway grounds subject to planning conditions to secure vehicle parking 
and access arrangements; annual monitoring requirement of the STP targets; 
off-site pedestrian and highway works subject to a highways legal agreement.  
The specific details are set out in paragraph 2.7 of this report and listed in the 
recommended planning condition 11. 

7.0 STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE OBSERVATION

County Ecologist

7.1 The County Ecologist has no objection but recommended planning conditions 
to secure the prevention of tree and hedge removal during the bird nesting 
season, implementation of tree protection, replacement of failed planting and 
additional biodiversity enhancement to be agreed on site.

7.2 On reconsultation with the further plans and documents, the County Ecologist 
noted that a mature cherry tree can now be retained although a mature purple 
plum will still be required to be removed due to drainage issues.  The wording 
of planning conditions was revised to reflect the submission of revised plans, 
tree protection information and biodiversity enhancements.  

County Landscape Advisor

7.3 The County Landscape advisor (CLA) agreed with the comments from the 
County Ecologist and with the conditions he has proposed. However he 
suggests the condition covering arboricultural works and plant replacement, 
should be split into two conditions. The second, starting with his "Any planted 
trees...” should have a period of 5 years inserted to cover replacement of 
failed plants.

7.4 In respect of the buildings, the CLA recommends that materials are 
conditioned to be in accordance with drawings 9116/PL310 A, PL311 and 
PL312.  The CLA further recommended that confirmation that the MUGA will 
not be lit is obtained and that any new lighting elsewhere associated with the 
scheme would be subject to prior approval by planning condition.

Page 44



7.5 On reconsultation, the CLA commented that he was pleased to see an 
additional tree retained whilst maintaining the number of replacement trees.  
He recommends that the replacement trees should be a minimum of heavy 
standard size to provide early visual mitigation and a condition require the 
replacement of trees which fail to thrive within 5 years of completion.  He 
further recommends tree protection fencing is installed prior to any works on 
site and is located outside the Root Protection Area.  

7.6 Following the submission of an amended Arboricultural Method Statement the 
CLA advised he was satisfied and that a condition to include a reference the 
statement and require the installing of the protection measures prior to the 
commencement of the development.

County Archaeologist

7.7 The County Archaeologist confirms that there is no archaeology known at this 
location and raises no archaeological issues which require archaeological 
investigation or recording in connection with this scheme.

Planning Considerations:

7.8 The main considerations material to the determination of this planning 
application to expand an existing primary school by 1 Form of Entry which 
involves increasing the capacity of the school by 165 pupils, 11.5 FTE of staff 
and the net floor space of the school by 466 m2 are: 

 impact of the development on the street scene; 
 residential amenity; 
 biodiversity including trees; 
 air quality;
 additional traffic created; and 
 the extent to which this development complies with national planning 

policies, the policies of the Development Plan for Gloucestershire and 
the Council’s climate change commitment.  

7.9 Additional issues have been raised through consultees which relate to: 
 the appropriateness of the County Council’s decision making process 

as the Education Authority to select this school to provide additional 
school places and whether there are better alternative sites to 
accommodate the requirement for additional pupil places;  

 the appropriateness of the County Council to determine a planning 
application as the County Planning Authority; and 

 the lack of an additional pedestrian access to the rear of the site, 
through allotment land forming part of these proposals has been 
particularly censured by the County Councillor and Parish Council.  

7.10 These additional issues are addressed in paragraphs 7.52 to 7.60 of this 
report under ‘Other Issues’ but are not considered to be material planning 
matters to the determination of this planning application.  

Page 45



Impact of Design on Street Scene

7.11 The proposal to increase the capacity of the school involves the construction 
of an additional 466 m2 of floor space and some external alterations which 
would affect the appearance of the buildings.  The largest element of the 
proposal in both floor space and additional massing is the erection of a new 
school hall which would be located to the rear of the existing school buildings, 
on the school’s western elevation.  The 396 m2 extension would be sited on 
part of an area currently used for external play.  While being single storey this 
extension would have a mono-pitched roof measuring 4 metres from the 
ground to the eaves rising to 7 metres at the highest point of the roof.  The 
palette of materials has been deliberately chosen to be muted and to blend 
into the existing materials used on other parts of the school where there are 
different architectural styles.  This part of the building would not be particularly 
visible from most public viewpoints along Hall Road or open land to the 
northwest of the application site as it would blend into the background of other 
buildings on the school site.  Boundary trees and hedgerow along the 
northern school boundary would filter views from the north of the school site 
so that the visual impact of the new extension would be limited.  Residential 
property borders the southern boundary of school site, preventing views into 
the school site from Church Road.  The scale, design and layout of the school 
hall is considered to be acceptable and compliant with saved Policy CP7 of 
the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan in that the extension would avoid causing 
harm to the architectural integrity of the group of buildings in this part of the 
school.     

7.12 The proposed admin block extension to provide a new entrance for the school 
would be located on the school’s eastern elevation and would be the most 
visible element of the proposals from Hall Road.  While this single storey 
extension measuring 10 metres wide by 5.5 metres deep would be a flat 
roofed extension, joining a late Victorian/Edwardian building, the design is 
considered to work well in terms of adding to the uniformity of appearance 
and as a contemporary solution to the mix of materials and styles that 
currently exist on this elevation.  While the buildings surrounding the school 
site are a mixture of different architectural styles and materials, the dwellings 
on the eastern side of Hall Road, facing the front of the school are a mix of 
semi-detached and detached Edwardian houses with forecourt gardens.  The 
proposed recladding of the existing school hall which is a much later addition 
to the school would also benefit from replacement windows which would also 
assist in reinforcing the more modern design concept which is proposed for 
the extension to the front of the school on Hall Road making it more 
acceptable in appearance.  The design of the extension would comply with 
paragraph 127 of the NPPF3 and saved Policy CP7 of the Cheltenham Local 
Plan in that the extension would avoid harm to the architectural integrity of the 
group of buildings and will function well and be visually attractive.

7.13 The scheme also includes the construction of an outdoor fenced MUGA.  This 
would be located to the rear of the school buildings and form part of the 
existing area of the school used for play and would compensate for the loss of 
play space taken up by the proposed hall extension.  The MUGA would be 

Page 46



hard surfaced and enclosed by 3.5 metre high anti-climb security sports mesh 
fencing.  There is no proposal to provide external lighting or to use the space 
outside of normal school opening times.  Being located at the rear of the 
school there would be no change to the street scene of either Hall Road or 
Church Road as residential properties are located along the southern 
boundary of the school playing fields which prevent views into the school site.  
The design of the MUGA would comply with paragraph 127 of the NPPF3 and 
saved Policy CP7 of the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan in that the MUGA 
would not be an unacceptable erosion of open space around existing 
buildings. 

7.14 The existing dining block (Old School Room), which is located in the oldest 
part of the school, is considered to be of local importance but is unlisted.  Only 
the southern elevation of the building can be seen from Church Road.  The 
proposal is to repurpose this building and refurbish it as a multi-purpose 
space for use as a community/parents room and staff work room.  There 
would be no change to the external appearance of the building and the visual 
impact on the street scene of Church Road would be unaffected by the 
proposals.  The changes to the building would comply with saved Policy BE11 
of the Cheltenham Local Plan in that the proposed changes would not result 
in harmful alteration of a historic but unlisted building.

Impact on amenity

7.15 The proposed operational use of the new school hall and entrance lobby 
extensions should not result in significant harm to the amenities of 
neighbouring land users in terms of noise and disturbance during normal 
school hours.  There should be a benefit in relocating the school hall which is 
used for after-school activities to a part of the site which is furthest from 
residential properties.  Concerns were expressed by the occupants of 67 Hall 
Road, which boundary adjoins the south-eastern corner of the school, being 
formerly the head teacher’s house, that relate to additional noise and 
disturbance from out of school hours activities close to their property.  The 
school has confirmed that most hirings would be in the new hall; however they 
may wish to use the repurposed dining hall building for yoga and Pilate’s 
classes which would not be noisy activities.  A planning condition which limits 
the use of the dining hall building on weekdays only until after 07:45 and no 
later than 21:00 hours should prevent undue disturbance of neighbours. 

7.16 In response to the neighbour’s request to relocate breakfast club from its 
current position in a free standing classroom unit to a position further from 67 
Hall Road, the school’s head teacher has advised that the company which 
provides the service is committed to ensuring that the provision does not 
negatively impact on the school or the community.  The club manager has 
been asked to ensure that children have a calm and relaxed start to the day 
with the door to the classroom closed and that the children do not use the 
playground until after 8.15am in warmer weather.  Parents have been asked 
to respect those living nearby when dropping off children.  The school is 
committed to working closely with neighbours to manage expectations which 
mean that no party is disturbed or disadvantaged. 

Page 47



7.17 The proposed MUGA would be located on a part of the site currently used as 
a playground/sports field, which is furthest from neighbouring dwellings.  The 
sports facility would be unlit and only used during school hours.  A planning 
condition to prevent the installation of lighting without planning permission and 
use of the MUGA outside school hours should limit potential noise and 
disturbance to those properties along Church Road which adjoin the southern 
boundary of the school playing fields. 

7.18 The Applicant has advised that the development would be carried out in 3 
phases over a period of 80 weeks in total.  In order to limit the impacts of the 
construction phase on both the continued operation of the school and on 
residents living close to the school, a Construction Method Statement has 
been submitted with the application.  This considers the traffic management of 
the site including the temporary relocation of staff parking to the south side of 
the school from Church Road using the emergency access route and location 
of parking of construction vehicles and route for deliveries to the site.  Phase 
1 would see the contractor’s compound located along the northern site 
boundary with a new access created from Hall Road for 34 weeks, 
commencing once permission granted.  Phase 2 would see the compound 
located to the south-eastern corner of the site, with a new temporary access 
off Hall Road, close to the existing school hall for a period of 26 weeks 
commencing in the Spring of 2020.  The northern access would be retained 
for both staff and to access a second remote compound retained from Phase 
1.  Phase 3 would see the remote compound along the northern boundary 
retained and a new compound located at the front of the school for 15 weeks, 
commencing in the Autumn of 2020.  Both compounds would be accessed 
from a new access road from Hall Road.  Temporary staff parking accessed 
from the emergency access on Church Road would cease and the ground 
reinstated on completion of the scheme which would see the staff car parking 
located closest to the site’s northern boundary with the allotments.  

7.19 The CHA has reviewed the Construction Method Statement and found this to 
be satisfactory and a planning condition to secure the implementation of the 
traffic management plan is recommended in order to mitigate the impacts of 
the development during the construction phase of the development.  A 
planning condition which secures the construction working hours to between 
0730 and 1800 hours on Monday to Friday and 0730 to 12 noon on Saturdays 
should mitigate adverse impacts on residents in accordance with saved Policy 
CP4 of the Cheltenham Local Plan.  

Impact on biodiversity and trees

7.20 The County’s Ecologist (CE) was satisfied that the ecological walk-over 
survey information submitted with the application was sufficient to inform the 
decision on the development.  There are no designated sites or habitats 
affected by the proposals.  The CE considers that an advice note/informative 
attached to any planning permission granted should be sufficient where the 
probability of Protected Species being present is low.  Slow worms occur in 
surrounding areas but the species were not found to be present on the school 

Page 48



site.  The School’s Nature Area where smooth newts are present in one of the 
ponds would not be affected by the proposals if the normal safeguards were 
employed during the construction phase of development.  The CE advises 
that because bats are likely to be using the site’s boundaries for foraging that 
excessive or unnecessary external lighting should be avoided, particularly in 
relation to the use of the MUGA.  An external lighting condition is 
recommended to control any unwanted impacts from lighting.  A small 
biodiversity enhancement scheme was recommended to compensate for the 
residual effect of the loss of trees in addition to the replacement tree planting.  
Following the submission of amended proposals, new bird boxes, a log pile 
and structure for invertebrate occupation will be provided.  The measures are 
considered to comply with paragraph 175 of the NPPF3 and Section 40 of the 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 which confers a 
general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities whilst exercising their 
functions.

7.21 The proposal includes the removal of 7 trees, following a revision to the 
scheme involving the retention of an additional frontage tree.  Two trees on 
the Hall Road frontage would be removed to facilitate the new vehicular 
access to the extended staff car park and because a tree is growing directly 
over a main sewer pipe.  However the loss of trees is compensated by the 
proposal to plant 12 replacement trees, 2 of which would be along the Hall 
Road frontage.  Following the District Council’s Tree Officer’s (TO) initial 
concerns which resulted in the retention of an additional tree along the 
frontage, the TO is satisfied with the compensatory planting scheme which 
includes heavy standard trees that will contribute more quickly to the visual 
amenity of the area than younger, smaller trees.  

7.22 Following an amendment to the Tree Protection Plan, the CLA is satisfied that 
the remaining trees on the site can be adequately protected by temporary 
fencing during the course of construction.  A planning condition is 
recommended to secure the planting of replacement trees and the 
implementation of the mitigation measures set out in the revised Tree 
Protection Plan which requires that protective measures are in place around 
the retained trees before the commencement of development.  A condition 
which prevents the removal of hedgerow or trees between the months of 
March and the end of August would prevent harm to nesting birds, protected 
by law.  The amended provisions are considered to comply with paragraphs 
170 and 175 of the NPPF3.

Impact on Air Quality

7.23 Local residents have expressed concerns regarding an increase in air 
pollution from additional school traffic given that all of Cheltenham is 
designated as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).  The Parish Council 
also has concerns over the threat to children’s’ health from the exhausts of 
cars waiting outside school.  Reference has been made to a study of pollution 
levels outside the school carried out in March 2017 which reported NO2 levels 
were twice as high as that measured at other schools in a limited survey.  The 
Parish Council response also makes reference to their own measurement of 

Page 49



particulate matter levels at the school on 24 mornings between the 12th 
October 2018 and 30th November 2018 which showed high levels of pollution 
over a short time period caused by traffic as cars drop-off children at school.

7.24 According to Cheltenham Borough Council’s (CBC) webpage an AQMA is an 
action zone where improvements in air quality must be implemented.  The 
whole of Cheltenham Borough was designated an AQMA in 2011 as 5 areas 
in Cheltenham exceed government health limit for nitrogen dioxide (NO2 ), 
formed from fossil fuel combustion mostly linked to road traffic exhaust 
emissions.  These 5 areas are subject to monitoring but do not include the 
area outside Leckhampton Primary School.  An Air Quality Action Plan to 
improve air quality was produced by CBC in 2014.  (A weblink to this 
document has been provided in Background Documents).  The Action Plan 
includes a list of 20 potential measures to help reduce air pollution.  The 
overriding aim is to encourage more sustainable travel choices through 
movement away from single occupancy private vehicle use to public transport, 
cycling and walking.   

7.25 Action Plan Measure #4 relates to the promotion of personalised travel plans 
which actively promote alternative travel options to change behaviour and it 
aims to obtain a 10% shift away from car travel.  

7.26 Action Plan Measure # 5 relates to working with schools to encourage parents 
and children to cycle and walk to school to reduce the ‘school run’ and 
measure # 9 refers to school travel grants to reduce traffic and parking issues 
associated with the ‘school run’.  Since the declaration of the AQMA, the 
County Council has been obtaining funding from the Government to 
implement transport related measures to encourage sustainable transport and 
modal shift (i.e. the movement away from using one particular form of 
transport to another) within the county. 

7.27 Given the concerns which were being expressed by consultees and the 
public, the District EHO was asked if they had any concerns over air quality 
outside this school and if they were aware of the air quality monitoring carried 
out outside Leckhampton Primary School to which the Parish Council referred 
in their response.  The EHO advised: 

“In my opinion the short term duration of the monitoring and the accuracy of 
the results are very questionable.  Air pollution as a general rule is 
measured via diffusion tubes which provide a monthly average.  The 
evidence and monitoring we have done as a council over the years 
indicates that although there will be ‘peaks’ of pollution around drop-off and 
collection at school times this will not lead to breaches of actionable levels.  
This has meant we do not currently monitor in the area.”

7.28 While the Parish Council considers it dangerous to proceed with this 
development without more information about air pollution or having a plan to 
tackle it, the link between short term peaks in air pollution immediately outside 
the school gates and the ‘school run’ is already established.  The EHO has 
advised air pollution would not breach actionable levels and has not 

Page 50



requested air quality monitoring.  As can be seen from the CBC’s agreed Air 
Quality Action Plan, the agreed measures to reduce air pollution are 
principally about encouragement in the absence of any legal ability to compel 
or sanction car drivers to make changes.  
 

7.29 The Air Quality Action Plan refers to the need for personalised travel plans to 
actively promote alternative travel options.  The application is supported by a 
plan to tackle air pollution caused by additional cars being involved in the 
‘school run’ in the form of a STP which takes account of the proposed 
expansion.  The STP has been revised following detailed input from the 
County Council’s dedicated Travel Plan Officer.  The STP includes targets to 
encourage a modal shift from car travel to more sustainable modes, given that 
postcode surveys show that 72% of the existing pupils live within a 15 minute 
walk from school.  The inclusion of a more ambitious 20% target to reduce 
vehicle trips would be in accordance with NPPF3 sustainability objectives, be 
in excess of CBC’s agreed Action Plan air quality improvement measure #4 
by double and demonstrates the County Council’s commitment to work with 
partners to reduce carbon emissions by 2030. 

7.30 A STP seeks to reduce car use, influence parking behaviour and encourage 
alternative transport choices.  It sets aims and tangible targets so that real 
change in transport behaviour can be achieved.  The revised STP will be 
subject to regular monitoring to track progress against targets secured by a 
planning condition.  The EHO was satisfied with the STP targets which 
exceed those targets set in the Borough Council’s Air Quality Action Plan 
proposed to be secured by planning condition.  This is considered to satisfy 
saved Policy CP4 (b) of the Cheltenham Local Plan in that the development 
would not result in levels of traffic to and from the site attaining an 
environmentally unacceptable level.  

Highway impacts

7.31 A TS, TA and STP have been submitted to support the expansion of the 
school.  In spite of public comments that the highway information is flawed; 
contradictory; is not impartial and does not include sufficient information 
relating to new housing development (existing or proposed) in the area; these 
documents have been carefully reviewed and revised following detailed 
comments made by the CHA and Travel Plan Officer.  The Highway Authority 
is satisfied with the information submitted to be able to assess the impacts of 
the proposed expansion and raises no objection subject to the imposition of a 
number of planning conditions to secure the STP objectives and mitigation.  

7.32 Twenty local residents have objected to the proposed expansion of the school 
and many have included adverse highway safety and traffic impacts in their 
reasons for objecting, particularly that proposed improvements are considered 
to be inadequate and will exacerbate existing parking and traffic problems 
which exist on Hall Road and Church Lane, relying on parental co-operation 
to reduce car usage for the ‘school run’.  

Page 51



7.33 The Parish Council has expressed similar concerns about existing serious 
traffic congestion in Church Road in the morning caused by parents 
manoeuvring vehicles and fears that the expansion of the primary school 
would make the route impassable, which could impact on the viability of the 
location of the proposed secondary school in Kidnappers Lane.    

7.34 Both the Parish Council and the Local Member are of the opinion that the 
creation of a new rear pedestrian access to the school, which was part of the 
pre-application public engagement but does not form part of the planning 
application, would provide an off-road route for children to walk or cycle away 
from dangerous and polluted roads.  Their view is that this access should form 
part of these proposals as it would also provide a more convenient access 
route to the Burrows Playing Fields which are almost adjacent to the school 
site, but some distance by road.  These opinions are maintained 
notwithstanding the statement supplied by the school that they do not wish to 
include an additional access at the rear of the school at this time, primarily for 
reasons of safeguarding and continuing maintenance cost liabilities.  

7.35 The CHA has considered these concerns and is satisfied with the transport 
assessment and that this application results in safe and suitable access 
commensurate and suitable to the proposed development.  

Transport Assessment

7.36 The TS and TA estimate that the additional 162 pupils and 11.5 staff resulting 
from the expansion of the school could generate an additional 88 pupil two-
way vehicle trips and additional 13 staff vehicle trips.  The proposed STP 
initially included a 10% modal shift target away from single pupil vehicle drop 
offs.  This was considered a low modal shift target given 83% of the school’s 
current catchment of pupils are within 2km and 72.1% are within a 15 minute 
walk; demonstrating reasonable walking, scooting and cycle distance to the 
site.  Following the initial consultation response by the Travel Plan Officer, the 
STP has been revised and the modal shift target increased to 20% for the 
reduction in single occupancy car trips considering the modal shift potential 
based on proximity of the majority of the pupil distance to school.  

7.37 The numbers of pre and post school activities, including the breakfast club 
which starts 1 hour before the 8.45am school day start and after-school clubs 
which generally finish 1 hour after the school day ends at 3.30pm, have the 
potential to reduce the peak school hour trips by staggering arrivals and 
departures on the highway network.  The TA illustrates the previous evidence 
of these on-going extra-curricular activities and planned continuation.  On the 
basis of this evidence the CHA accepts the reductions in peak school hour 
trips will reduce the traffic impact in the morning before the general network 
peak hour movements and in the afternoon which will be before the network 
peak hour movements.

7.38 While the Parish Council has expressed local concern that the additional 
traffic generated by the expansion would make the route impassable and 
could present access problems to the proposed secondary school in 

Page 52



Kidnappers Lane, the CHA does not consider the additional vehicle trips using 
the Leckhampton Road / Church Road junction and Moorend Road (Hall 
Road) / Leckhampton Road junction would be significant enough to warrant 
refusal in accordance with NPPF3 paragraph 109.  The Planning Authority 
may only consider the merits of this planning application and will have to 
consider the impacts of the proposed secondary school in the separate 
planning application which has recently been submitted.

Highway Safety

7.39 Some local residents have concerns relating to highway safety from increased 
traffic and footway parking of cars.  However the collision data from the past 5 
years provided in Appendix E of the TA includes reference to two collisions 
which did not involve school age children and were attributed to driver error 
and a maintenance issue but not directly due to highway design or school 
activity.  The collisions records have been checked and the causes confirmed 
as not being associated with any school activity, whilst the observed footway 
parking has not been linked to recorded collisions.  

7.40 There is no on-site vehicle parking for pupil drop-offs/pick-ups or visitors and 
this generates significant on-street parking by the parents/guardians dropping 
off and picking up pupils in the AM and PM peak periods near the school.  The 
TS includes a parking survey of the surrounding highways within 500m 
walking distance of the site (desirable walking distance to school according to 
Institution of Highways and Transportation guidance) to determine on-street 
parking capacity during the peak periods of demand associated with the 
school.  

7.41 The TS, based on the parking surveys, illustrates that the peak parking 
demand period in the AM was 8.35-8.40am prior to the start of the main 
school day at 8.45am and in the PM was 3.10pm-3.15pm with KS1 day 
ending at 3pm and KS2 day ending at 3.15pm, during which times it has been 
illustrated approximately 44-45 safe and legal on-street parking spaces 
sufficient to accommodate a vehicle were available within 500m.  The parking 
surveys state that they have excluded the first 7.5m from junctions, 
crossovers, drop kerbs, build-outs, traffic islands, restricted by a waiting 
regulation order, below 6m in length or parking on the opposing road side 
from on-street parking where this would obstruct thoroughfare due to limited 
road width.  This parking survey indicates that there would be sufficient on 
street space to accommodate the additional demand of the proposed 
expansion of pupil vehicle trips.  Table 7.2 of the TA shows the current modal 
split with no reduction accounting for modal shift as a result of the proposed 
STP.  The TA shows that the expected staggered arrivals/departures and 
absenteeism from before and after-school activity attendance would reduce 
the numbers of cars dropping off and picking up at the peak times. 

7.42 The CHA notes from on-site observations, stakeholder comments and 
recorded figures in the TS parking surveys that there is an element of vehicle 
parking on the footway associated with pupil drop-offs/pick-ups at restricted 
locations including on Hall Road and Church Road.  However based on 

Page 53



recorded vehicle numbers parking or stopping in restricted locations such as 
cross-overs, double yellow lines and zig-zags, the on-street parking space 
surveyed would cater for this existing demand.  The CHA is of the opinion that 
if the anticipated STP reductions are achieved and staggered 
arrivals/departures associated with pre and post-school activities that the 
amount of on-street parking would be sufficient to cater for demand.

7.43 The STP includes a scheme to mark out parking bays on Hall Road and 
revise existing Traffic Regulation Orders to reduce the problems associated 
with footway parking and reduced road width.  Those residents who have 
expressed concern about a reduction in on-street parking space and 
congestion problems would be able to express their views as part of the 
separate public consultation and approval process.  However the CHA is of 
the opinion that revisions to the existing road markings may improve current 
arrangements and reduce conflict for both vehicle and non vehicular 
movements.

7.44 Some local residents have expressed concerns about the unattractiveness of 
some routes to the school which deters walking.  The TA includes a non-
motorised user route audit (known as ‘Walking, Cycling and Horse Rider 
Assessment and Review’) of five routes to the school identified as the most 
likely to be used by those travelling to the school.  These non-motorised user 
route audits have identified the following issues with the routes for users 
which should be mitigated as part of this development and improve the 
attractiveness of sustainable means of access: 

 Tactile drop kerb footway crossing provided on Arden Road at junction 
with Hall Road;

 Pedestrian guardrail installed on Hall Road footway opposite footpath 
entrance between 8 and 10 Charnwood Road;

 Tactile paving of drop kerb footway crossing on Hall Road at the 
junction with Moorend Road;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Charnwood Road at junction with Arden 
Road;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Arden Road at junction with Moorend 
Grove;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Moorend Grove between junctions of 
Peregrine Road and Arden Road junction;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Peregrine Road at junction with Moorend 
Grove;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing across Church Road opposite proposed 
school Church Road pedestrian access and;

 Relocated tactile pedestrian crossing on Hall Road in the vicinity of the 
Hall Road school accesses.

7.45 The CHA has considered these mitigations acceptable and recommends that 
they are secured by a planning condition.  This will ensure that a safe, 
suitable and secure means of access for all people which minimises the 
scope for conflict between traffic and cyclists and pedestrians is provided in 
accordance with paragraphs 108 and 110 of the NPPF3.

Page 54



On-site parking and access  

7.46 The proposals include the opening of a new pedestrian access into the school 
from the south utilising an existing emergency vehicle access route.  The new 
access with a new tactile drop kerb crossing over Church Road would improve 
pedestrian accessibility into the site, reducing non-motorised user trip distance 
from the southwest and need to use the Hall Road entrance.  

7.47 A new vehicular access would be created from Hall Road in order to improve 
access to the enlarged car parking area to be created along the northern site 
boundary.  The CHA is satisfied that the proposed site access plans illustrate 
suitable visibility splays onto Hall Road based on recorded vehicle speeds and 
swept path tracking demonstrates that expected service vehicles and coaches 
could enter and exit the site in forward gear.  The vehicular access would be 
separate from the pedestrian only access which would improve the existing 
shared access arrangements and reduce any possible conflict of movement 
between cars and pedestrians.  The proposed accesses onto Hall Road are 
considered suitable, providing additional and widened accesses improving site 
permeability by staff, pupils, parents/guardians and visitors from the existing 
footway.  This would benefit pedestrians, cyclists and scooter users by 
reducing pedestrian congestion entering/exiting the school grounds 
highlighted as an issue in parent/guardian questionnaire results.

7.48 The proposed on-site parking provision for staff of 49 spaces including 5 
visitor spaces and 2 disabled spaces is considered sufficient to meet 
estimated parking demand based on multi-modal staff trip surveys, part-time 
staff and accounting for modal shift in the STP.  Based on existing staff multi-
modal surveys, of the 74% of staff driving or car sharing there would be an 
estimated 13 additional vehicle parking space demand, which will 
accommodate the existing observed staff demand of 27-30 vehicles and 
additional demand whilst allowing for visitor and disabled parking.

7.49 The site currently only provides 10 staff cycle parking spaces and no facilities 
for pupils or visitors including parents/guardians.  The TA states that based on 
pupil surveys there could be a demand for up to 12 cycles and 61 scooters 
utilising existing provision and forecasts for cycle users is 5 and 22 scooter 
trips.  It is noted in the TA and was observed on-site that there is significant 
existing scooter parking demand with scooters left in school railings.  The TA 
states an additional 30 cycle spaces and 100 dedicated scooter spaces will be 
provided to accommodate existing and future demand.  This is above the 
current parking standard for the additional staff and pupil numbers associated 
with the expansion.  The scooter stores are proposed to be located between 
the Hall Road and Church Road pedestrian accesses and school building 
entrances which is acceptable to the CHA.  The CHA considers that to 
promote cycling in conjunction with the STP initiatives that a minimum of 40 
cycle parking spaces should be secured by planning condition in order to give 
priority to cycle movements by ensuring that adequate cycle parking is 
provided, to promote cycle use and to ensure that the appropriate 

Page 55



opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up in 
accordance with paragraph 108 of the NPPF3.

Conformity with the Policies of the Development Plan

7.50 The proposed expansion of a primary school in order to provide better 
facilities is supported in National Planning Policy.  One of the strategic 
objectives of the adopted JCS is promoting healthy communities by enhancing 
opportunities for high quality education through access and sustainable 
transport.  The suburban location of the school which is close to where the 
pupils live and to public transport routes does present opportunities for 
sustainable transport options because they can walk or cycle to nearby 
facilities, making it easier for them to stay active and function without a 
vehicle. 

7.51 This Council’s climate change commitment in relation to the proposed 
expansion would need to be considered in relation to the NPPF3’s aim of 
sustainable development.  It is noted that the application includes a STP with 
targets to reduce vehicle trips in accordance with NPPF3 guidance and this 
Council’s commitment to reduce carbon emissions.  The STP proposes 
measures to reduce the impact of vehicle related trips from both the existing 
and expanded school.  These are being considered in relation to the potential 
highway impact of additional trips.  Mitigation and any off and on highway 
measures would be subject to meeting the test of planning conditions or 
developer contributions. 

Other issues:

Additional Footpath to the rear of the school

7.52 The Local Member and the Parish Council have both mentioned that an 
additional footpath to the rear of the school should form part of this planning 
application.  A suggestion to create a new rear entrance to the school 
between the school playing fields, across a corner of the allotment land 
between Burrows Playing Field had formed part of the pre-application public 
consultation prior to the submission of the planning application.  The Parish 
Council and the County Councillor are disappointed that the rear footpath 
does not form part of final application submission and consider that there 
would be benefits to creating this additional pedestrian access to the school.  

7.53 The Applicant was asked if they would like to reconsider including the rear 
footpath route, given the Parish Council’s request.  A written response was 
provided to the request which does not rule out the formation of a new access 
in the future but after further consideration and consultation.  

7.54 The Local Member considers that if the application is approved without the 
additional rear footpath access it would be contrary to the County Council’s 
policy to reduce carbon emissions.  The CHA considers that, while the aim of 
improving permeability and pedestrian routes/access to the school is 
welcomed, the current planning application is not of sufficient scale to warrant 

Page 56



the creation of a new rear pedestrian/cycle pathway across the rear fields as a 
condition of this planning application.  The route would require lighting, 
surfacing, widening and boundary treatment as well as crossings to provide 
suitable routes for all weather and conditions.  Housing development 
proposals for the land off Shurdington Road to which the Local Member refers 
have not yet been submitted.  If this development is shown to generate 
significant pedestrian/cycle trips to this school site then the existing and 
potential connections and routes for cyclists would need to be considered for 
improvement works which may be carried out by the developer at that time.    
The lack of provision of the additional rear footpath in this application is not 
considered to conflict with the Council’s ambition in achieving a step change 
in carbon reduction.  There is no requirement for a new route to future 
development to be considered at this stage as part of the current proposal.

7.55 In respect of the resident’s issue raised by the Local Member regarding the 
safety of children walking from the Redrow housing site known as Brizen Park 
to the west of the school, the TS submitted as part of the current planning 
application for the school expansion takes account of the committed 
pedestrian route improvements along Church Road towards the school from 
the Brizen Park access off Leckhampton Lane.  Off-site improvements which 
have yet to be implemented include a build-out to segregate vehicles and 
pedestrians outside Church Farm Business Centre.  This will be provided by 
developer contributions as part of the implementation of the approved housing 
development will be subject to technical approval by the Highways 
Agreements Team.  As the delivery of these route improvements are 
committed as part of the implementation of the Brizen Park development, they 
will be delivered irrespective of whether the proposed expansion of the school 
is permitted.

Choice of this school for expansion

7.56 Some local residents have expressed dissatisfaction with the County Council 
processes for the selection of Leckhampton Primary School for expansion and 
that their views have not been considered.  The following chronology has 
been supplied by the County Council’s Head of Commissioning for Learning 
and sets out the consultation and decision process:

 In April 2018, the Director of Education took a decision to consult on 
the proposal to permanently increase the Reception intake at 
Leckhampton C of E Primary School from 60 places to 90 with effect 
from September 2019.

 A consultation was carried out between 8th May and 5th June 2018 
with a public drop-in held at the school on the 16th May.

 On the 6th August 2018 the then Cabinet Member for Economy, Skills 
and Growth (Cllr Lynden Stowe) considered the response from the 
consultation before taking the formal decision to publish a Statutory 
Notice.

 The Statutory Notice proposing to increase Leckhampton C of E 
Primary from September 2019 was published on the 6th September 
2018. 

Page 57



 Stakeholders were invited to make any further representations between 
the statutory period of 6th September to 4th October 2018.

 All responses received up to midnight on the 4th October 2018 were 
considered.

 The decision to approve the expansion was taken by the Cabinet 
Member Lynden Stowe on 23rd November 2018.

7.57 The Education and Inspections Act 2006, Academies Act 2010 and Education 
Act 2011 placed a duty on local authorities to act as commissioners, rather 
than providers of school places.  Gloucestershire County Council, like all local 
authorities, is under a statutory duty to: 

i) ensure there are sufficient school places in their area; 
ii) promote high educational standards; 
iii) ensure fair access and equal opportunity; 
iv) promote the fulfilment of every child's educational potential; 
v) promote diversity in provision; 
vi) expand popular and successful schools; and 
vii) increase opportunities for parents to access schools of their choice. 

7.58 It is the Council’s policy to provide schools and school places in locations 
which enable children to be educated in their local community, minimise travel 
distance & journey times and prioritise pedestrian and cycle journeys.  The 
County Council has followed the statutory process in the selection of this 
school for expansion.

Role of the County Planning Authority 

7.59 Some criticism was received from local residents during the publicity period 
that the planning application consultation process was incorrectly handled 
with some consultation not being carried out and consultation periods being 
different.  The appropriateness of the County Council determining the 
application and whether the application should be determined by Planning 
Committee was questioned.  CBC is a consultee for a planning application 
made under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General 
Regulations 1992.  Where the County Council is the determining authority, all 
the consultee comments are shown on our website, whereas only limited 
information will be available on the Borough Council’s website.  The 
government has permitted councils to determine their own applications under 
Regulation 3 since 1992 where they provide for essential public services.  
These applications still undergo the same scrutiny by consultees and officers 
as any other planning application by a private developer.  The County 
Planning Authority operates separately and at arms-length from other council 
departments which are proposing new development under Regulation 3.

7.60 The application, when submitted, was showing on the County Council’s 
website as being delegated to the Director for decision.  In accordance with 
our Planning Protocol, the party group spokespersons were consulted when 
the Local Member requested that the application should be determined by the 
Planning Committee.  The Chairman and group spokespersons agreed in 

Page 58



consultation with the Lead Commissioner that the application should be 
referred to the Planning Committee for determination in the interests of 
transparent decision making.  

Human Rights 

7.61 From 2nd October 2000, the Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of 
enshrining much of the European Convention on Human Rights in UK law. 
Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 guarantees a right to respect for 
private and family life and Article 1 of the First Protocol guarantees the right to 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  Article 8 also provides that there shall be 
no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right except in 
the interests of national security, public safety, or the economic well-being of 
the country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health 
or morals, or for the protection of the freedom of others. 

7.62 Apart from the concerns expressed by Leckhampton Parish Council, no 
objection has been received from a statutory consultee.  There have been 20 
objections received from local residents concerned with the loss of amenity 
due to increased traffic on local roads, increased parking by parents and an 
increase in air pollution close to the school related to the school run which 
would have a detrimental impact on health and the environment.  For the 
reasons set out in the Planning Considerations above it is not considered that 
there would be any breach of the Convention rights.  Even if there was to be 
an interference with Convention rights then, in this case, it is considered that 
the interference would be justified in the interests of economic well-being and 
proportionate.  Accordingly, it would not be unlawful to grant planning 
permission for this development.  

Summary Reasons for the Grant of Planning Permission

7.63 The proposal in this planning application is for extensions to a primary school 
in order to increase the school by 1 Form of Entry to accommodate a growth 
in pupil numbers.  The proposals include the creation of new pedestrian 
access to the south of the school from Church Road, utilising and existing 
emergency access route.  

7.64 Other than concerns expressed by Leckhampton and Warden Hill Parish 
Council in relation to traffic congestion and pupil health and safety, no 
statutory consultees have objected to the proposal.  Twenty objections from 
local residents have been received which were predominately concerns 
relating to additional traffic, on-street parking close to the school entrances 
being generated by parents dropping off and picking up children which then 
negatively impacts on the safety of pedestrians and air quality.  Both the Ward 
Councillor and Parish Council consider that problems created by parents 
bringing children to school in cars can be alleviated by the creation of a 
pedestrian access from the northwest of the school site, which does not form 
part of these proposals.  The Highway Authority having considered the 
revised TS, TA and STP, which includes a strategy to encourage a 20% 
modal shift away from car use, is satisfied that the highway impacts of the 

Page 59



increased attendance at the school by both staff and pupils can be managed 
to an acceptable level and the absence of an additional pedestrian access to 
the west should not prevent this development in its current form.  The 
proposals are considered to comply with national planning policy in paragraph 
94 of the NPPF3 by making provision for additional school places to meet the 
needs of existing and new communities.  The expansion of this school is 
considered to comply with adopted JCS Policy CP4 in that the proposals 
would not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of the locality and would 
not result in traffic to and from the site attaining an environmentally 
unacceptable level.

7.65 In determining this application, the County Planning Authority has worked with 
the Applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking solutions 
to problems arising in relation to dealing with the planning application by 
liaising with consultees, respondents and the Applicant/agent and discussing 
changes to the proposal where considered appropriate or necessary.  This 
approach has been taken positively and proactively in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF, as set out in the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION

8.1 It is recommended that planning permission is GRANTED for the reasons 
summarised in paragraphs 7.63 to 7.65 in accordance with Regulation 3 of 
the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992, and subject to the 
following conditions: 

Commencement 

1 The development hereby authorised shall begin not later than the expiration of 
3 years from the date of this permission. Written notification of the date of 
commencement shall be sent to the County Planning Authority within 7 days 
of such commencement.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

2 The proposed development shall only be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted application form; Design & Access Statement, Revision A, received 
7th June 2019; revised School Travel Plan for Leckhampton C of E Primary 
School, dated June 2019, received 20th June 2019; Energy Statement by 
Speller Metcalfe, dated 22nd February 2019; Ecological Walk-over Survey by 
Betts Ecology and Estates, dated August 2018; Drainage Maintenance 
Schedule by Infrastructure Design Studio; Flood Risk & Drainage Statement 
by Infrastructure Design Studio, Rev C dated 13th March 2019; External 
Lighting Report by Speller Metcalfe, dated 28th February 2019; Construction 
Method Statement and Environmental Management Plan by Speller Metcalfe;  

Page 60



Transport Statement by Cotswold Transport Planning, dated March 2019; 
Transport Addendum by Cotswold Transport Planning, received 7th June 
2019; Tree Surveys and Tree Protection Plans Ref:CTTPP010819B by Alan 
Watson Arboriculturalist; Additional Information - Dining Block & After School 
Club by Roberts Limbrick, received 15 May 2019; Loss of playing fields 
justification statement by Roberts Limbrick Architects, dated April 2019; Phase 
1 & 2 Ground Investigations (Part 1 of 3), by Core GeoTechnics Limited, 
dated 12.12.2018; Schedules of materials and finishes received on 9th 
September 2019 and the following drawings

9116 PL01 Site Location Plan, dated February 2019;
9116 PL02 Existing Block Plan, dated February 2019;
9116 PL03 Proposed Block Plan, dated February 2019;
9116 PL100 Rev B Existing Site Plan, dated 11.4.19;
9116 PL101 Rev B Proposed Site Plan, dated 31.05.2019;
9116 PL102 Rev A Proposed Fencing Plan, dated 02.04.2019;
9116 PL103 Rev B Plan Showing Existing Trees to be Removed, dated 
31.05.2019;
9116 PL200 Existing Floor Plan, dated February 2019;
9116 PL201 Proposed Floor Plan, dated February 2019;
9116 PL300 Existing Site Elevations, dated February 2019;
9116 PL301 Existing Dining Block Elevations, dated February 2019;
9116 PL310 Rev A Proposed Elevations Sheet 1 of 4, dated 18.03.2019;
9116 PL311 Proposed Elevations Sheet 2 of 4, dated 26.02.2019;
9116 PL312 Proposed Elevations Sheet 3 of 4, dated 26.02.2019; 
9116 PL313 Proposed Elevations Sheet 4 of 4, dated 26.02.2019; 
9116 PL314 Proposed MUGA Elevations, dated March 2019; 
9116 PL900 Existing Roof Plan, dated 27.02.2019;
9116 PL901 Proposed Roof Plan, dated 27.02.2019; 
9116 PL907 Phasing Plan 3 27.02.2019; dated 27.02.2019;
9116 PL905 Rev A Phasing Plan1, dated 13.03.2019;
9116 PL906 Rev A Phasing Plan 2, dated 13.03.2019; 
9116 PL907 Rev A Phasing Plan 3, dated 13.03.2019;
SP01 Rev D Swept Path Analysis - Fire Tender, dated 22.01.2019;
SP02 Rev E Swept Path Analysis - Refuse Vehicle, dated 22.01.2019; 
SP03 Rev E Swept Path Analysis - Bus, dated 22.01.2019; 
SK02-1 Rev C Offsite Highways Improvements, dated 11.03.2019;
12464-18 Model 1 Scale 1:200, dated August 2018;
12465-18 Model 1 Scale 1:50, dated August 2018;
12466-18 Model 1 Scale 1:50, dated August 2018;
180127.E. 600 External Lighting, dated 21.02.2019;
1452 C01 Rev E Drainage Scheme, dated 13.03.2019;
1452 C02 Rev B Drainage Details Sheet 1, dated 27.02.2019;
Part 2 of 3: Ground Investigations, dated 10.12.2018;
Part 3 of 3: Ground Investigations, dated 10.12.2018.

Reason:  In order to define the scope of this consent.

Page 61



3 The details and measures of tree protection, arboricultural methods and 
replacement planting shall be implemented as set out within the Tree 
Protection Plan by Alan Watson File Ref. LeckhamptonCTPP080319B as 
approved.  All protective structures required by the said Tree Protection Plan 
shall be installed prior to any works commencing and maintained until 
construction work has been completed.  No materials, soils, or equipment 
shall be stored under the canopy of any retained tree or hedgerow within the 
application site. 

Reason: To ensure that biodiversity and amenity is conserved and in 
accordance with ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraphs 8, 170 and 175. This is also in accordance with 
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, 
which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities.

4 Any planted trees or shrubs that die or become diseased, or are removed or 
damaged, within 5 years of planting shall be replaced in the first available 
planting season with others of a similar size and species in accordance with 
the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that biodiversity and amenity is conserved and in 
accordance with ODPM Circular 06/2005 and National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraphs 8, 170 and 175. This is also in accordance with 
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, 
which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities.

 5 No removal of trees or shrubs shall take place between 1st March and 31st 
August inclusive unless a suitably qualified ecologist has undertaken a 
careful, detailed check of the vicinity concerned for active birds' nests. No 
such woody vegetation should be cleared unless the ecologist has provided 
written confirmation that no birds will be harmed or that there are appropriate 
measures in place to protect any identified nesting birds on the site. If any 
such measures are required these should be copied in writing in advance to 
the County Planning Authority for information and then implemented in full.

Reason: To ensure that breeding birds are protected as required by law and in 
accordance with ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraphs 170 and 175. This is also in accordance with Section 
40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, which 
confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities.

 6 Only the external building materials and the finishes detailed on the Schedule 
of Materials and Materials Board, dated September 2019 shall be used in the 
development. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with 
‘saved’ Policy CP7 of the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan.

Page 62



 7 No external lighting shall be installed on the development until a detailed 
scheme has been submitted to and approved by the County Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be based on drawing 180127.E.600 Rev.P2 and 
the External Lighting Report dated 28th February 2019. The submitted 
scheme shall include the following details:

(a) the position, height and type of all lighting;
(b) the intensity of lighting and predicted spread of light as a lux contour 

plan of the site;
(c) the measures proposed must demonstrate no significant effect of the 

light on the environment including disturbance to bats and local 
amenity. Light falling on trees, shrubs and hedgerows used by bats will 
be below or not greatly exceeding 1.0 lux; 

(d) the periods of day and night throughout the year when lighting will be 
used and controlled for operational and emergency needs.

The approved scheme shall be implemented for the duration of the 
development and maintained thereafter in accordance with the manufacturer's 
recommendations and scheme details.

Reason: To ensure that amenity is conserved and bats are not discouraged at 
this location and in accordance with Policy SD9 of the Joint Core Strategy, 
ODPM Circular 06/2005, National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 
170, 175 and 180 and Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006 which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local 
Authorities whilst exercising their functions.

 8 The small scale biodiversity enhancement scheme as set out in Section 3.12 
of the Design and Access Statement Revision A shall be implemented as 
approved within 3 months of the first occupation of any of the new or extended 
buildings comprised in the development.

Reason: In the interests of the conservation and enhancement of local 
biodiversity and amenity in accordance with Policy SD9 of the Joint Core 
Strategy and paragraphs 8, 170 and 175 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. This is also in accordance with Section 40 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, which confers a general 
biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities.

 9 During the construction phase, all hazardous chemicals, if left on site 
overnight, are to be secured and any excavations covered or designed with 
one sloped side or ramp in place. Also all open pipes to be capped off 
overnight that are larger than 150mm outside diameter. All excavations shall 
be infilled as soon as is practicable.

Page 63



Reason: As a precaution to ensure the site is made safe from environmental 
pollution and that animals including those legally protected are prevented from 
becoming trapped within excavations. In accordance with Policy SD9 of the 
Joint Core Strategy, ODPM Circular 06/2005 and National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraphs 170 and 175. This is also in accordance with Section 
40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, which 
confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities.

10 The approved School Travel Plan, dated June 2019 shall be implemented in 
accordance with the details and timetable therein, and shall be continued 
thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the County Planning 
Authority.

Reason: The development will generate a significant amount of movement 
and to ensure that the appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable 
transport modes are taken up in accordance with paragraphs 108 and 111 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

11 The new and extended buildings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until 
the following highway works are completed;

 Tactile drop kerb footway crossing of Arden Road at junction with Hall 
Road;

 Pedestrian guardrail installed on Hall Road footway opposite footpath 
entrance between 8 and 10 Charnwood Road;

 Tactile paving of drop kerb footway crossing on Hall Road at the junction 
with Moorend Road;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Charnwood Road at junction with Arden 
Road;

 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Arden Road at junction with Moorend Grove;
 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Moorend Grove between junctions of 

Peregrine Road and Arden Road junction;
 Tactile drop kerb crossing on Peregrine Road at junction with Moorend 

Grove;
 Tactile drop kerb crossing across Church Road opposite proposed school 

Church Road pedestrian access;
 Relocated tactile pedestrian crossing on Hall Road in the vicinity of the 

Hall Road school accesses.

Reason: To ensure that a safe, suitable and secure means of access for all 
people that minimises the scope for conflict between traffic and cyclists and 
pedestrians is provided in accordance with the paragraphs 108 and 110 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

12 The new and extended buildings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until 
the vehicular parking and turning facilities have been provided in accordance 
with the approved plan 9116 PL101 Rev B- Proposed Site Plan, dated 
31.05.2019 and those facilities shall be maintained and available for those 
purposes thereafter.

Page 64



Reason: To ensure that a safe, suitable and secure means of access for all 
people that minimises the scope for conflict between traffic and cyclists and 
pedestrians is provided in accordance with the paragraphs 108 and 110 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

13 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the cycle 
storage facilities have been made available for use in accordance with the 
submitted and approved plans for a minimum of 40 spaces being covered, lit 
and secure with a minimum spacing between Sheffield style stands of 
1000mm and those facilities shall be maintained for the duration of the 
development.

Reason: To give priority to cycle movements by ensuring that adequate cycle 
parking is provided, to promote cycle use and to ensure that the appropriate 
opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up in 
accordance with paragraph 108 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

14 The vehicular access hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until 
visibility splays have been provided in accordance with the submitted plans. 
The area between those splays and the carriageway shall be reduced in level 
and thereafter maintained so as to provide clear visibility between 1.05m and 
2.0m at the centre of site access and between 0.6m and 2.0m at the splay 
extents above the adjacent carriageway level.

Reason: To avoid an unacceptable impact on highway safety by ensuring that 
adequate visibility is provided and maintained to ensure that a safe, suitable 
and secure means of access for all people that minimises the scope for 
conflict between traffic and cyclists and pedestrians is provided in accordance 
with paragraphs 108 and 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

15 Prior to first occupation of the proposed development hereby permitted the 
first 10m of the proposed access road, including the junction with the existing 
public road, shall be completed to at least binder course level.

Reason: To minimise hazards and inconvenience for users of the 
development by ensuring that there is a safe, suitable and secure means of 
access for all people that minimises the scope for conflict between traffic and 
cyclists and pedestrians in accordance with paragraphs 108 and 110 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Construction Hours of Working

16 No construction works authorised by this permission shall be carried out on 
site except between the following hours: 

07.30 to 18:00 hours Monday to Friday.
07.30 to12:00 Saturday

No construction work related to the development shall take place on Sundays, 
Bank or Public Holidays.

Page 65



Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with ‘saved’ 
Policy CP4 of the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan.

Hours of occupation 

17 The building identified as ‘Existing Dining Block’ on drawing 9616 PL201, 
dated February 2019 shall not be occupied except between the following 
hours:

0745 and 2100 hours on Monday to Friday

No occupation or use of the building shall be permitted on Saturdays and 
Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.  

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the neighbouring residents in 
accordance with ‘saved’ Policy CP4 of the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan.

INFORMATIVES :-

1. The Ecological Report by Betts dated August 2018 advises (target notes 4 & 5, 
plates 6 to 10) that further bat survey work will be essential if development 
proposals change in the vicinity of two sensitive building location.

2. Under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Weeds Act 1959 
(as amended) and Ragwort Control Act 2003 (as amended) you may need to 
take action to prevent the spread of certain plants onto surrounding areas that 
could cause a nuisance. These plants include non-native invasive species such 
as Himalayan Balsam and also harmful or injurious weeds such as Common 
Ragwort and Spear Thistle. Further information is available on Defra's section of 
the government website currently at https://www.gov.uk/prevent-the-spread-of-
harmful-invasive-and-non-native-plants.

3. If a protected species (such as any bat, great crested newt, badger, reptile, or 
any nesting bird) is discovered using a feature on site that would be affected by 
the development or related works all activity which might affect the species at the 
locality should cease. If the discovery can be dealt with satisfactorily by the 
implementation of ecological (biodiversity) mitigation measures that have already 
been drawn up by your ecological advisor or approved by the County Planning 
Authority then these should be implemented. Otherwise a suitably experienced 
ecologist should be contacted and the situation assessed before works can 
proceed. This action is necessary to avoid possible prosecution and ensure 
compliance with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the 
Protection of Badgers Act 1992. This advice note should be passed on to any 
persons or contractors carrying out the development/works.

4. In relation to the County Council's Service Level Agreement with the Local 
Biological Records Centre and to assist in the strategic conservation of 
countywide biodiversity, all species and habitat records from the ecological work 
commissioned by the applicant should be copied [if not already] to the 
Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental Records (GCER).

Page 66



5. The proposed development will involve works to be carried out on the public 
highway and the Applicant/Developer is required to enter into a legally binding 
Highway Works Agreement (including an appropiate bond) with the County 
Council before commencing those works.

6. The upgrade works to the accesses and surrounding pedestrian footways with 
crossings require alteration to the existing highway network and must be 
undertaken by the Highway Authority or its appointed agents. An Agreement 
under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 will be required.

7. The Local Highway Area office will need to be contacted prior to commencement 
of work on the access.

8. The applicant is also advised that it is an offence under section 161 of the 
Highway Act 1980 to deposit anything on a highway the consequence of which a 
user of the highway is injured or endangered. 

9. Any design works to the public highway should be supported by Stage 1 Road 
Safety Audit and  the approval of the brief/scope by the Road Safety Audit Team 
of the County Council is required prior to undertaking any works.

BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 Planning Application file 19/0026/CHRG3MJ containing the planning application, 
supporting statement, drawings, consultation responses and representations may 
be viewed by appointment with the case officer below or on the Council’s Public 
Access website www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning by a search with the 
application reference.

 Cheltenham Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan April 2014  
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/3780/air_quality_action_plan_2014 

CONTACT OFFICER:
Case Officer: Linda Townsend.
Telephone: 01452 426896
Email: planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 67

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/3780/air_quality_action_plan_2014
mailto:planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Further revised (2nd Review) Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) for 
Gloucestershire

1. Introduction

1.1 A Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) is a statutory planning document 
that outlines the consultation and engagement methods that councils will use 
when involving interested residents, groups, organisations, businesses, and other 
representatives and individuals in the planning process. It explains who will be 
consulted, when and how in the preparation of planning policy documents, 
including the development plan and the consideration of planning applications.

1.2 All local planning authorities are required by law to prepare an SCI for their area 
and keep it under review at least every five years.

1.3 The SCI for Gloucestershire County Council was first adopted back in December 
2005.  A revised SCI was adopted at the end of March 2013.  The revision was 
prepared to reflect significant reforms to the planning system brought about by the 
Localism Act 2011.

1.4 Following changes to Planning Regulations which came into force in early 2018, a 
scoping review of the revised SCI was conducted by officers.  This concluded that 
a further revised (2nd Review) SCI should be produced.  In March 2019, the Lead 
Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning endorsed an officer proposal to 
produce a further revised (2nd Review) SCI for Gloucestershire.  However, before 
such a document can be recommended for adoption it must undergo a period of 
public consultation and review by Planning Committee.

1.5 This report introduces to Planning Committee the further revised (2nd Review) SCI 
for Gloucestershire and explains the key areas for change proposed by officers. 

2.0 Proposed changes to the (1st Review) Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI) for Gloucestershire

2.1 The proposed further revised (2nd Review) SCI for Gloucestershire acknowledges 
a number of legislative reforms and implementation updates that have taken place 
since 2013.  New references have been included to reflect the relevant 
consultation-related requirements linked to the General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR), Environmental Information Regulations (EIR) and the Duty 
to Cooperate (DtC),which was first introduced through the Localism Act 2011.

2.2 The further revised (2nd Review) SCI includes a number of text changes to better 
reflect the potential broadening out of the County Council’s involvement in plan 
making beyond minerals and waste matters 1.  There is a new section that outlines 
the County Council’s consultation standards for Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPDs).  An SPD is a local document aimed at providing more 
detailed advice on policies already contained in an adopted local plan. SPDs are 

1 County Councils are now recognised as a plan-making authority who responsibilities can be extended beyond minerals and waste matters under 
provisions of the Neighbourhood Planning Act.2017

Page 69

Agenda Item 10



not part of the local development plan but are recognised as material 
considerations in decision–making.  Previously, the revised  (1st Review) SCI for 
Gloucestershire was silent on local consultation standards covering SPDs and 
relied upon meeting the minimum consultation requirements set out in national 
planning regulations.

2.3 Cultural trends coupled with technological advancements have also had an 
influence on the review of the revised SCI.  Most significantly there has been a 
continuing shift away from traditional engagement such as letter notifications and 
making available hard copies at physical deposit locations throughout the County.

2.4 The further revised (2nd Review) SCI proposes to remove the Council’s 
commitment to making hard copies of all consultation documents available at all of 
Gloucestershire’s libraries (40 + locations).  This is largely due to communication 
infrastructure improvements that have been made at Gloucestershire’s libraries in 
the recent past, which have increased accessibility to free bookable computers.  
Library computers also now include magnification software and speech and Braille 
support for people with sight-impairment.  Continuing to provide hard copies is 
considered to be inefficient and unnecessarily duplicates access to consultation 
information.  It would require the continuation of public expenditure in the region of 
£4,000 for each consultation to cover paper and printing and would also generate a 
carbon footprint of around 1 ton per consultation event2.

2.5 A further change is proposed in respect of the categories of consultees and the list 
of individual organisations that the County Council is committed to engage with 
during plan-making.  The changes reflect the re-organisation and name changes of 
government and non-governmental bodies and the increasing importance of 
demonstrating how the County Council is responding to its Duty to Cooperate (DtC) 
responsibilities.

2.6 For determining planning applications, additional advice is proposed to confirm the 
County Council’s default position on the confidentiality of paid pre-application 
advice.  Further local guidance is also presented to clarify how the County Council 
will consult  and notify about proposed developments that may require an 
Environment Impact Assessment (EIA).  The latter has been included to reflect 
revisions to the regulatory regime for EIAs brought about in 20173.

2.7 Finally, a new sub-section covering potential Nationally Significant Infrastructure 
Projects (NSIPs) proposed within Gloucestershire has also been prepared.  This 
explains the County Council’s role in NSIP applications and sets out a 
commitment to actively encourage prospective applicants to apply the Council’s 
standards when carrying out community engagement.

2.8 A draft copy of the further revised (2nd Review) SCI for Gloucestershire is 
appended to this report.  

2 This figure is based on the full life-cycle analysis (i.e. production, recycling and eventual disposal) of nearly 800 sheets of recycled A4 paper 
printed and then duplicated 40 times to distribution to all Gloucestershire-based libraries. Transportation has not been included in this 
assessment. For comparison purchase the carbon footprint is same as the energy used for an average house for up to 28 days 
3 The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017

Page 70



3. Next Steps

3.1. In March 2019, the Lead Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning endorsed 
an officer proposal to carry out public consultation for the further revised (2nd 
Review) SCI for Gloucestershire.  Officers intend to carry out this consultation in 
late autumn 2019 / early winter 2020.

3.2. Following the cessation of the public consultation, officers will consider whether 
any further changes to the document will be required in response to the 
representations received.  The Lead Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning will consider any further changes proposed.  These further changes will 
then be reported back to Planning Committee for review.

3.3. A Cabinet report will then be prepared to update on the preparation of the further 
revised (2nd Review) SCI for Gloucestershire including both the outcome of the 
public consultation and review by Planning Committee.  The Cabinet report will 
seek a formal resolution for the County Council to adopt the further revised (2nd 
Review) SCI for Gloucestershire.

4. Recommendation

4.1. It is recommended that Planning Committee notes the intention of the Director: 
Communities and Infrastructure to: -

 prepare a further revised (2nd Review) Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) for Gloucestershire and provide an eight week period of 
public consultation thereon as soon as is practicable;

 report upon the results of the public consultation to the Planning Committee 
prior to finalising the further revised SCI; and

 prepare a Cabinet report to recommend the adoption of the document by 
the County Council

CONTACT OFFICER DETAILS:

Robin Drake – Principal Planning Officer | Minerals & Waste Policy
Telephone: 01452 425682
Email: m-wplans@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 71

mailto:m-wplans@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Statement of
Community Involvement

for Gloucestershire

2nd Review (Draft)

Planning Committee Version | Sept 2019

Page 73



1

CONTENTS

Introduction 2

Consultation: Development plan documents (DPDs) 4

Consultation: Supplementary planning documents (SPDs) 9

Consultation: Development proposals and planning applications 11

Table 1: Consultees the County Council will engage with during plan making 5 - 6

Table 2: The plan making stages for supplementary planning documents 10

Figure 1: Key consultation stages & engagement for development plan 
documents

8

Page 74



2

1 INTRODUCTION

1. The planning system touches the lives of everyone in Gloucestershire.  
However, for many of us we come into contact with it only when we find out 
about a nearby planning application.  What is often not known is that 
approved schemes have got to fit into the wider plan for an area, as well as 
be consistent with national policies issued by the Government.

2. For every new planning document that the County Council produces and any 
planning applications submitted to it for determination, the people of 
Gloucestershire and organisations need to be informed and given the 
opportunity to air their views as part of the decision making process.

3. To help set out how the County Council will go about this a Statement of 
Community Involvement (SCI) for Gloucestershire has been prepared.  This 
statement is also a statutory requirement for the County Council in its role as 
a planning authority1,2.

4. The SCI covers all consultations undertaken by the County Council in relation 
to future development plan documents involving strategic and non-strategic 
policies, including for minerals and waste matters3.  It also considers planning 
applications submitted to the County Council.  The SCI has been split into 
sections according to the type of planning function.  Sections 2 and 3 are 
planning policy and plan making functions; related to the production of 
development plan documents and supplementary planning documents.  
Section 4 covers development management and the planning application 
process.

5. The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
(as amended)4 includes a requirement to review the Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) every five years.  The SCI was originally adopted in 
December 2005.  A revised (1st Review) SCI was adopted by the County 
Council in March 2013.

6. This document is a further revised (2nd Review) version of the SCI.  It has been 
prepared in accordance with the latest legislation and has been made 
available for public consultation between xxxxxx and xxxxx.    

1 A statement of community involvement is required under Section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as amended by 
the Planning Act 2008; Localism Act 2011; and Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended).

2 County Councils are now recognised as a plan-making authority with responsibilities that could be extended beyond minerals and waste 
matters under provisions of the Neighbourhood Planning Act.2017

3 Paragraphs 17 to 19 of the further revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) explains what must be included within a 
local development plan

4 Regulation 10A of the Town & Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2017 (SI 2017 No. 1244) introduced 
the need to review local development documents. It came into force on 28th December 2017.

Page 75



3

7. More details about the further revised (2nd Review) SCI consultation can be 
found online at xxxxxxx. This is where comments can be submitted 
electronically using the County Council’s online consultation portal “Consult: 
Gloucestershire’.  

8. Alternatively, comments can be emailed to m&wplans@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
or can be posted to: -

SCI (2nd Review) consultation
Minerals and Waste Policy
Strategic Infrastructure
Gloucestershire County Council 
Shire Hall
Gloucester 
GL1 2TH

9. In undertaking consultation and engagement we have also had regard to wider 
County Council policy and to the following legislation:
 Human Rights Act,
 Freedom of Information Act, 
 Environmental Information Regulations
 Data Protection Act
 General Data Protection Regulations, and 
 Equality Act.

10. To further assist in your consideration of this matter, a glossary of common 
planning terms and phases can be accessed on the National Planning Portal 
at: 

http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/general/glossaryandlinks/glossary 

Page 76

mailto:m&wplans@gloucestershire.gov.uk
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/general/glossaryandlinks/glossary


4

2 CONSULTATION: DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS (DPD)

11. This SCI sets out local guidelines for the preparation of development plan 
documents that Gloucestershire County Council intends to produce in the 
future.  This involves local plans containing strategic and / or non-strategic 
policies and which cover minerals and waste matters5.

12. A key aim of consultation and engagement with plan preparation is to try and 
build consensus across Gloucestershire on the way in which new 
development will be assessed.  Whilst a consensus is not always possible, 
consultation offers the opportunity to improve understanding of key issues that 
in turn may help to minimise the degree of conflict and delay in putting in 
place up-to-date, effective and responsive local planning policies.

13. Consultation methods and processes for engagement will be chosen by the 
County Council on a case-by-case basis to make them as relevant and 
effective as possible having taken into account of the different stages of plan-
making.  Electronic communication, enabling online representations and using 
social media to share ideas and information will help to maximise 
engagement.  However, where these options are not possible or appropriate, 
the County Council will use more traditional methods such as making 
available to view hard copies of consultation documents at key locations and 
sending out notification letters to inform interested parties about a 
consultation event.  Written representations to consultation will also be 
accepted.

14. Table 1 over the page identifies categories of individual organisations that the 
County Council are committed to engaging with during plan making.  ‘Specific 
consultation bodies’ are those that we are statutorily required to consult with 
in preparing new plans and policies6.  There are a number of other ‘general 
consultation bodies’ that the County Council will also consult with as a matter 
of course, mostly comprising of local organisations and groups that represent 
the interests of different sections of the community within Gloucestershire.  In 
addition, there are ‘Duty to Co-operate’ (DtC) bodies.  These are a 
combination of local planning authorities, county councils and other public 
bodies not already listed that are subject to meeting statutory DtC 
requirements and which the County Council believe should be engaged with 
in respect of strategic planning matters7.  The list of DtC bodies is dynamic in 

5 Paragraphs 17 to 19 of the further revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) explains what must be included within a 
local development plan

6 As set out in Part 1, Regulation 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended)

7 Section 33A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) introduced the Duty to co-operate in relation to planning 
of sustainable development. It was contained in the Part 6 Chapter 1 clause 110 of the Localism Act 2011. It places a duty on local planning 
authorities, county councils in England and other public bodies to engage  constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis in the 
preparation of development plan and local development documents (and marine plans)  in respect of sustainable development and / or 

Page 77



5

so much as not all bodies listed will need to be consulted on every occasion.  
The decision to consult on DtC bodies will be made by the County Council on 
a case-by-case basis subject to the nature of the strategic planning matters.

15. Outside of the categories set out in the table, other interested parties or 
individuals who express an interest in plan making will be included on the 
County Council consultation database.  This is a live system that is keep up-
to-date regularly in line with the General Data Protection Regulations.

Table 1: Consultees the County Council will engage with during plan 
making *

Types of consultee Who this means?

Specific Consultation 
Bodies-

 Environment Agency (EA); 
 Marine Management Organisation (MMO)
 Historic England; 
 Natural England (NE); 
 Network Rail Infrastructure Ltd; 
 Highways England (HE);
 Local authorities; parish / town councils; and / or 

neighbourhood forums within Gloucestershire and 
those that adjoin the county’s administrative 
boundary;

 National Health Service Commissioning Board;
 NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group;
 Homes England and the Regulator of Social 

Housing;
 Electronic communication providers covering 

Gloucestershire and communication infrastructure 
operators with facilities located within the county;

 Bristol Water Plc, Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig (Welsh Ltd 
), Thames Water Utilities Ltd, Severn Trent Water 
Ltd, and Wessex Water Services Ltd in their 
capacity as sewerage and / or water undertakers 
operating within Gloucestershire;

 National Grid; Scottish and Southern Electricity 
Networks; and Western Power Distribution in their 
capacity licence holders for either electricity 
transmission or supply within Gloucestershire;

 National Grid and Wales & West Utilities in their 
capacity as licence holders for either gas 
transmission or distribution within Gloucestershire; 
and

 Coal Authority.

the use of land that will significantly impact on two or more planning areas 

Page 78



6

General Consultation 
Bodies

 Voluntary bodies (national or locally-based) whose 
activities benefit Gloucestershire – including in 
respect to health and well-being, heritage, wildlife 
and wider environmental matters;

 Bodies representing the interests of different racial, 
ethnic, national groups; and  / or different religious 
groups; and / or disabled persons in 
Gloucestershire; and

 Bodies (including chambers of commerce and trade 
associations) representing the interests of 
businesses operating within Gloucestershire.

Duty to Co-operate 
Bodies

 Local authorities with planning responsibilities other 
than those which adjoin the county’s administrative 
boundary, which are potentially impacted by a 
strategic planning matter relevant to the preparation 
of a local development document undertaken by the 
County Council;

 Mayor of London;
 Civil Aviation Authority (CAA);
 Office of Rail and Road (ORR);
 Transport for London (TfL);
 Integrated Transport Authorities; and
 Highway authorities other than Highways England 

and those which are local authorities adjoining the 
county’s administrative boundary, which are 
potentially impacted by a strategic planning matter 
relevant to the preparation of a local development 
document undertaken by the County Council.

 Gloucestershire Local Enterprise Partnership (GFirst 
LEP)*;

 Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership*; and
 Other Local Enterprise or Nature Partnership(s), 

which are potentially impacted by a strategic 
planning matter relevant to the preparation of a local 
development document undertaken by the County 
Council.

*These bodies are not subject to DtC, but planning authorities should 
engage with them and have regard to their activities where they relate to 
local plan making. In effect a ‘duty to cooperate’ of sorts exists between 
planning authorities and LEPs and LNPs;

* There are also a number of organisations that the County Council considers to be potentially important 
and influential in respect of plan-making. However, these organisations do not fall under the consultation 
categories outlined in the SCI.  The decision to consult these organisations will be taken on a case-by-
case basis dependent upon the subject matter of the local development plan or supplementary planning 
document being prepared, recognised best planning practice at that time, government guidance and 
future legislative requirements. The organisations in question are: - British Geological Survey (BGS), The 
Crown Estate, Defence Infrastructure Organisation (DIO), The Health & Safety Executive (HSE) and 
Public Health England,

Page 79



7

Consultation periods

16. Consultation events will normally take place for a period of at least six weeks 
as required by regulations.  However, the County Council may choose to 
extend this time to receive representations.  The decision to do so will be 
made on a case-by-case basis.  For example, an extended period may be 
reasonable during main holiday periods to allow organisations sufficient time 
to make arrangements to agree representations.

Availability of documents

17. The County Council may use social media to promote public consultations.  It 
will make consultation documents available on the County Council website.  
Hard copies will also be made available for inspection in the main reception 
area of the County Council and at the primary offices of Gloucestershire’s 
borough, city and district councils.

18. Consultation documents will also be accessible to view via online services 
offered by Gloucestershire libraries including those supported by the County 
Council8.  Library computers are installed with software enabling 
magnification, speech and Braille support for people who are visually 
impaired.  

19. Consultation documents will be sent electronically to organisations and bodies 
on request.  However, a charge to cover costs may be made for other 
requests such as the sending of documents through the post.

Consultation stages

20. The plan-making stages involving consultation and engagement are largely 
governed by statutory procedures9.  National guidance is also provided to 
support the process.  The later, decision-making stages are more formal in 
nature and the County Council cannot deviate from these.  Figure 1 presents 
a diagram showing the key stages of consultation and the broad engagement 
commitments to engagement by the County Council.

8 Online services offered at libraries in Gloucestershire include:- free bookable computers, free public wifi and subject to availability, 
computer buddies to help with the use of computers, tablets and getting online.

9 Statutory procedures are contained within the Town & Country Planning (England) (Local Planning) Regulations 2012 (as amended)

Page 80



8

Figure 1: Key consultation stages & engagement for development plan documents

Plan-making 
Stages: -

What is being 
considered?

Broad engagement 
commitments: -

Plan 
Preparation

Gathering evidence;
Scoping what is to be looked at or not; 
Starting to look at possible options; 
Looking at social, environmental and 
economic Impacts (the beginning of 
the Sustainability Appraisal process);

 Consultation primarily aimed at:- checking 
that we have got the approach right;

 Consultation documents deposited at local 
council receptions;

 Minimum 6-week consultation period; 
Workshops may be held to talk through 
issues; 

 Multiple consultations and social media 
may be used

Draft 
Plan

Publication of 
Proposed 

Submission 
Plan

 

*

 

Adoption

Independent 
Examination

Consultation primarily aimed at: - checking 
the ‘soundness’ of the plan* and its legal 
compliance;
Notification letters used for all prospective 
consultees;
Notification on Council website; 
Notification to advise on when and how 
consultations can be made;
Consultation documents deposited at local 
council receptions;
Minimum 6-week consultation period;
All representations will be submitted with 
plan for consideration at the examination by 
the inspector.

Submission 
Stage

Formal decision-
making

Submission – The Council will submit
its ‘submission’ version of the plan, 
plus all formal consultation 
representations received at this stage 
and all associated documents 
including the final Sustainability 
Appraisal;

Examination – The independent 
inspector will decide on the level of 
participation for the examination and 
how any amendments might need to 
be consulted upon;

Adoption – GCC to decide to adopt 
plan. There is a six-week legal 
challenge period post-adoption

 Consultation primarily aimed at: - ensuring the 
draft policies are right for Gloucestershire; 
Notification letters used for all prospective 
consultees;

 Notification on Council website, advising on 
when and how consultations can be made;

 Consultation documents deposited at local 
council receptions;

 Minimum 6-week consultation period;
 Workshops  and social media may be used for 

promotional purposes

The production of the final council 
version of the plan;
Conclusion of the assessment of social, 
environmental and economic impacts of 
the plan (the final stage of the 
Sustainability Appraisal process)

The production of a draft plan; 
Continuing to look at the social, 
environmental and economic impacts of 
the emerging plan (the next stage of the 
Sustainability Appraisal process)

 Consultation primarily aimed at: -
providing the inspector with sufficient 
detail and clarity in order to fully assess 
the plan’s soundness; the inspector to 
decide on the length, scale and nature 
of any public consultations (e.g. Main 
Modifications);

 Council website updated to include 
Inspector’s Report and all proposed 
modifications;

 Inspector’s Report deposited at local 
council receptions

 All respondents to the plan will be 
notified of the adoption;

An adoption statement will be 
published

Page 81



9

3 CONSULTATION: SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS 
(SPD)

21. Supplementary planning documents (SPDs) do not have the same planning 
status as a development plan document.  They are normally used to help in 
the understanding and implementation of policies contained in development 
plan documents.  SPDs are adopted by councils without independent 
examination and are material considerations in the determination of planning 
applications.

22. The level and extent of consultation required in the preparation of a SPD is 
generally less than that for a development plan document and the 
consultation methods may vary according to the scope and significance of the 
SPD.  The aim is for SPDs to be prepared reasonably swiftly so they can be 
responsive to arising policy implementation matters.  SPDs can be extremely 
influential in ensuring policies are properly reflected in decision making with 
planning applications.  As consequence it is important that effective 
community involvement takes place during their preparation.

Consultation periods

23. Consultation events will normally take place for a period of four weeks.  
However, the County Council may choose to extend this time to receive 
representations.  The decision to do so will be made on a case-by-case basis.  
For example, an extended period may be reasonable during main holiday 
periods to allow organisations sufficient time to make arrangements to agree 
representations.

Availability of documents

24. Availability of documents will be the same as development plan documents.

Consultation stages

25. As with the preparation of development plan documents, the preparation and 
adoption of SPDs is governed by statutory procedures10.  National guidance 
is also provided to support the process.  Table 2 provides a summary of the 
stages usually involved in the preparation of SPDs 

10 Statutory procedures are contained within the Town & Country Planning (England) (Local Planning) Regulations 2012 as made by the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 2008 and Localism Act 2011

Page 82



10

Table 2: The plan making stages for supplementary planning documents

Stage Stakeholder Involvement

Evidence gathering and 
preparation of draft 
SPD

Likely to involve informal and / or targeted engagement 
with relevant specific and general consultation bodies 
and other organisations. A site-specific SPD may also 
include consultation with local communities affected and 
/ or representatives of local communities.

Social media will be used to promote consultation where 
relevant and appropriate.

Elected members will receive a report about progress on 
SPD preparation including a review of the consultation 
outcomes 

Public consultation and 
preparation of final 
draft

A period of public consultation regarding the draft SPD 
will be completed for a period of at least 4 weeks. 

General and specific consultees will be notified about the 
consultation along with any other individuals and 
organisations who have expressed an interest. Social 
media will also be used to promote the consultation

Representations and 
finalise SPD

Elected members will received a report about progress 
on SPD preparation including a review of consultation 
outcomes (and any changes to be taken forward into the 
final SPD).

Adoption Following adoption necessary notifications will be issued  

Page 83



11

4  CONSULTATION: DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS AND 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS

26. The SCI also sets out how the County Council will engage in consultation with 
the public and other organisations when dealing with planning applications. 
This includes expectations and commitments surrounding consultation carried 
out at the pre-application stage.  In all cases, the County Council must meet 
minimum requirements when undertaking consultation with planning 
applications.  These are provided in regulations and set out in law11.  

27. Gloucestershire County Council is responsible for determining planning 
applications. The Council also offers pre- application advice. The County 
Council deals with following types of planning applications: -

 Mineral developments including: - extraction; on-site mineral processing; 
and the implementation of mineral site restoration;

 Waste management developments including: - composting; disposal  
and recovery (landfill and energy from waste); recycling; treatment; and  
bulking and transfer; and

 Public infrastructure on land under the control of County Council and / or 
funded by the County Council such as new or extended schools or local 
roads.

Consultation and engagement in pre-application proposals

28. Gloucestershire County Council provides pre-application planning advice. 
This is a chargeable service12.  Prospective applicants who benefit from paid 
advice will receive input from internal specialists from within the County 
Council.  No wider consultation including with members of the public or other 
potentially relevant statutory bodies takes place through the pre-application 
service.  Pre-application advice is also not publicised by the County Council 
and is considered in the first instance to be confidential.  However, in the 
event that the County Council is subject to a freedom of Information requests 
involving the disclosure of paid pre-application advice, confidentiality may be 
removed.  A decision on this matter will be taken on a case-by-case basis 
following legal advice.

29. The County Council also encourages prospective applicants to carry out 
engagement with the local community and other interested parties during the 

11 Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended)

12 More information about GCC’s pre-application service can be obtained from https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-
environment/planning-applications/pre-application-planning-advice 

Page 84

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-applications/pre-application-planning-advice
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-applications/pre-application-planning-advice


12

early pre-application stage.  This also applies to the County Council in its 
capacity as a prospective applicant for development it is responsible for. Pre-
application is strongly supported in government guidance13

30. Prospective applicants should think about the various methods available to 
ensuring those potentially affected by their proposal, have been involved in its 
preparation.  These might include sending out notification letters and leaflets 
and electronic posts using social media with links to easily readable plans and 
diagrams explaining emerging proposals, public meetings, exhibitions or more 
involved workshops.  

31. A ‘Statement of Pre-application Engagement’ may be requested by the 
County Council for proposals that progress to the application stage.  The 
statement should be similar to that required under regulations for specific pre-
application consultation14.  Failure to carry out meaningful pre-application 
consultation and / or produce a robust supporting statement, could delay the 
processing of any subsequent planning application(s).  A ‘Statement of ‘Pre-
application Engagement’ should ideally include  :

 Who has been involved;
 How have they been engaged;
 What were the issues raised;
 What recommendations were highlighted by respondents; and
 What changes have been taken forward into the proposal at the 

application stage?

The need for Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and what matters will 
need to be considered with planning applications

32. Some development proposals determined by the County Council may require 
an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) to be carried out.  This will result 
in the need to produce an environmental statement (ES) to accompany a 
planning application.  Regulations allow for prospective applicants to seek a 
decision from the County Council as to whether an (ES) is required 
(Screening Opinion) and if so, what matters it will need to consider (Scoping 
Opinion)15.  

33. For Screening Opinions the County Council have a period of 3-weeks in 
which to respond.  There is no requirement to undergo consultation on a 
Screening Opinion, however, a decision to do so will be made on case-by-

13 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), Section covering: - The value of pre-application engagement, paragraph: 001, reference ID: 20-001-
20190315
14 Part 2, Article 4, Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended)
15 The Town and Country Planning (Local Authority Consultations etc.) (England) Order 2018

Page 85



13

case basis. Once a Screening Opinion has been adopted by the County 
Council it will be publicised on the Council’s website.  A copy of the adopted 
Screening Opinion will also be sent to the borough, city or district council of 
Gloucestershire in which the application is located.

34. For Scoping Opinion requests the County Council is required to provide a 
response within a 5-week period.  Consultation with a number of external 
organisations is a requirement of this process, although it does not include the 
general public16.  However, as with adopted Screening Opinions, a copy of 
the adopted Scoping Opinion will be publicised on the Council’s website and 
sent to the borough, city or district council of Gloucestershire in which the 
application is located.

Awareness raising and notification of new planning applications

35. On receipt of a valid planning application the County Council will either place 
a notice or request for one to be placed, on or near the application site giving 
details of the application, where further information about it can be found, and 
the date by which any comments will need to be submitted to the County 
Council.  This site notice must be displayed for at least 21 days, unless the 
planning application is defined as ‘EIA development’ and is accompanied by 
an environmental statement.  In this circumstance the site notice must be 
displayed for 30 days17.  The County Council will also place the notice on the 
Council’s website.

36. A public notice of valid planning applications may also place in a local 
newspaper, which is in circulation in the locality of the proposal site.  The 
decision to place a public notice in a local newspaper will be made on a case-
by-case basis having reviewed regulations relating to this matter and taking 
into account the likely scale and significance of the proposed development18.  

37. The public notice placed in a local newspaper will also invite comments to be 
made for a period of no less than 21 days following the publication of the 
notice.

38. Where there are people living or working nearby an application site, the 
County Council will notify them by letter giving 28 days from the date of the 
letter in which to respond.  This extended period of notice is to accommodate 
unforeseen delays in postal collections and deliveries.  Generally the County 

16 Organisation that must be consulted include:- Natural England, Environment Agency, Historic England, the relevant local planning 
authority and any other body that would be required to be consulted in accordance with Schedule 4 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 (as amended)

17 Part 3, Article 15, Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended)

18 Part 3, Article 15, Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended)

Page 86



14

Council does not employ tight thresholds for deciding who to include in such 
consultations.  However, it will try to ensure that at least all known properties 
bordering the application site outlined in red on the submitted plans and those 
believed would most likely be affected by a proposal, are sent a consultation 
letter.  The County Council will decide which properties it will consult on a 
case-by-case basis guided by regulatory requirements and local 
circumstances.

Informing organisations about new planning applications

39. In addition to notifying the public about new planning applications the County 
Council will consult public bodies such as district and parish / town councils 
and other relevant technical organisations or agencies, giving them a 
minimum of 21 days to respond.  Most public bodies have a duty to respond 
to our consultations.  However, time extensions for complex applications may 
be agreeable where it is important to accommodate meeting schedules.

Dealing with comments made on planning applications

40. Where the County Council receives comments to planning applications by 
post or by e-mail, these will be available for public inspection, by appointment 
at: - Shire Hall, Westgate Street, Gloucester.  Comments that arrive via our 
website, will also appear on our website for others to see – albeit only the 
contributor’s name will be associated with comments and all other details will 
be removed.  Responses received from other statutory, public bodies and / or 
general consultation bodies will also be made available to view on the County 
Council website.  Endeavours will be made to make such comments available 
within 5 working days of their receipt.

41. In very exceptional circumstances – for example, when the development 
proposal in question is very large and / or is likely to generate an exceptional 
level of public interest – the County Council may decide to put all public 
comments onto the website, regardless of the way in which such comments 
were submitted.  Under these circumstances, only the contributor’s name will 
be associated with the electronic publication of postal or hard copy comments 
and all other details removed.  This process may take longer than 5 working 
days to complete.

Making decisions on planning applications

42. Minor and less contentious planning applications will usually be determined 
under delegated powers at the Director-level.  In all other cases, applications 

Page 87



15

are referred to the County Council’s Planning Committee for a decision.

43. The Planning Committee is made up of elected members who represent 
communities from across Gloucestershire.  All those who have responded to 
a planning application will be invited to attend and observe the relevant 
Planning Committee meeting.  Respondents may be able to speak at 
Planning Committee meetings.  Details on how, when and for how long public 
speaking can take place is set out on the Gloucestershire County Council’s 
website19.

Informing of decisions on planning applications

44. All those who have responded to planning applications either by letter, email 
or via our website will be notified by the County Council of the decision once 
it has been made.  This will normally be by e-mail unless only postal details 
have been provided.

Monitoring and enforcement of decisions on planning applications

45. The County Council is unable to monitor every site all of the time so the 
public play an important and vital role in alerting of any potential breaches of 
planning control.  This can be easily done online through the County 
Council’s Planning Enforcement webpages20.  Contact details will be kept 
confidential. The County Council will also keep you updated with its findings, 
and we may be in touch to request further information.

46. There are no requirements for the County Council to undertake formal 
consultation on enforcement investigations, but may work or consult with 
relevant bodies or individuals as part of their investigation.

47. Should any enforcement matter result in an Enforcement Notice, and that 
Notice is appealed, then the Council are required to formally consult 
immediate neighbours and anyone that has reported the breach.  
Representations have to be made within a deadline which the County 
Council will specify to you in writing and forward to the Planning Inspectorate 
as part of their deliberations.

48. Further information on the operation of the County Council’s Planning 
Enforcement Service, how to make a report, how an investigation will be 

19 https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/speaking-at-planning-committee/

20 Details available from https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-enforcement/how-to-report-a-breach-
of-planning-regulations/ 

Page 88

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/speaking-at-planning-committee/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-enforcement/how-to-report-a-breach-of-planning-regulations/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-enforcement/how-to-report-a-breach-of-planning-regulations/


16

conducted and what actions may be taken, is set out in the County Council’s 
Planning Enforcement Plan21.  Appendix 2 of the Planning Enforcement Plan 
includes our Customer Service Charter setting out what customers should 
expect from the County Council.

Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) proposed within 
Gloucestershire

49. For major infrastructure developments deemed to be of national importance 
(e.g. railways, ports, electricity lines etc.) Gloucestershire County Council is a 
statutory consultee rather than the determining local planning authority. 
These types of developments are known as ‘Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects – NSIPs’ and are decided by Government through the 
Planning Inspectorate (PINS).

50. Whilst the process for carrying out pre-application engagement and 
consultation on NSIPs applications is well established and set out in 
legislation and guidance22, it vitally important that local communities and 
other interested parties that benefit Gloucestershire are meaningfully 
engaged. Consequently, as part of the County Council’s early involvement 
with emerging NSIP developments, it will strongly encourage meeting the 
commitments of the Gloucestershire SCI.  This will be particularly relevant 
where prospective applicants seek the County Council’s input in the 
preparation of a Statement of Community Consultation (SoCC)23.

 

21 Available from https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-enforcement/planning-enforcement-plan/ 

22 Planning Act 2008; Localism Act 2011; Infrastructure Planning (Applications: Prescribed Forms and Procedure) Regulations 2009; 
Infrastructure Planning (Interested Parties and Miscellaneous Prescribed Provisions) Regulations 2015; Planning Act 2008: Guidance on the 
pre-application process (2015); Planning Act 2008: Guidance on nationally significant infrastructure projects and housing (2017).

23 SoCCs are a consequence of section 47 of The Planning Act 2008. There purpose is to set out how the project promoter intends to 
consult people living in the vicinity of the proposed nationally significant infrastructure project.

Page 89

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-enforcement/planning-enforcement-plan/


This page is intentionally left blank



1

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT PROGRESS REPORT – SEPTEMBER 
2019 COMMITTEE

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To identify the level and nature of enforcement activity undertaken by the 
Planning Enforcement team in 2019, up to and including 28th August.

1.2 To provide details and an update on formal action being taken against more 
serious planning breaches, including the results of legal actions undertaken.

1.3 To identify progress on planning enforcement matters raised as ‘Regulation 3 
Development’, i.e. where the County Council is either landowner, in control of the 
land, or the activity relates to the Council’s functions.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 Gloucestershire County Council employs one-full time Planning Enforcement 
Officer, based in the Planning and Development Management Team. The role 
exists to investigate alleged breaches of planning regulations, work with those 
responsible to resolve any issues identified, and consider appropriate action 
where identified breaches cannot be remedied. Some monitoring support is also 
provided by the Council’s Senior Planning (Monitoring and Compliance) Officer, 
as well as advice given from other planning officers in the team regarding the 
position on any unauthorised development.

2.2 The team operates according to the Planning Enforcement Plan brought before 
members in January 2019, supported by a set of Customer Service Standards, 
through implementing agreed officer procedures. 

3.0 CURRENT WORKLOAD

3.1 The following is a summary of activity for 2019, to 28th August:

 46 new enquiries received leading to formal investigation; this compares against 
a total of 48 in the whole of 2018;

 31 investigations resolved or otherwise concluded; this compares against a total 
of 22 in the whole of 2018;

 41 investigations are ongoing, and a total of 72 different cases have been 
worked on in 2019;

 An additional 28 reports/complaints have been received and resolved, which 
although requiring some assessment, did not require full investigation.

Page 91

Agenda Item 11



2

3.2 The above figures demonstrate not only a greater workload undertaken 
during 2019, but also reflects changes to the working practices of the team since 
January 2019, including a more systematic approach to record keeping.

3.3 The following identifies some of the areas of work undertaken to date in 2019, as 
part of the caseload identified in sections 3.1:

 Complaints have been received concerning noise, dust and increased traffic 
movements coming from Allstones operations in Myers Road. The County are 
working closely with Gloucester City Council’s Environmental Health team and 
the Environment Agency to monitor and assess the nature and levels of the 
impacts alleged;

 Traffic through Ford – the Council has received numerous complaints from        
local residents concerning traffic safety, the condition of lorries and local 
highway, the times they are operating and an increase in the amount of traffic on 
local roads. Where these issues are alleged to result from local operations, 
quarry managers have been reminded of any relevant conditions attached to 
their planning permissions (e.g. hours of operation) and spot checks undertaken. 
Matters outside of planning jurisdiction are being addressed by other public 
agencies such as Gloucestershire Highways and traffic police;

 The County are working closely with the Environment Agency and City Council 
investigating a number of sites where the dumping of unauthorised materials is 
taking place.

3.4 In addition the Senior Planning Enforcement Officer has been providing support 
to the case officers in a number of ways from consultation responses on planning 
applications, through to providing monitoring and other advice with regards to 
pending appeal proceedings.

3.5 The Senior Planning Enforcement Officer has established the County 
Enforcement Officer’s Group, who will meet periodically to discuss matters of 
joint interest including any impacting changes to legislation and guidance. The 
inaugural meeting is in September, and is aimed at improving working 
relationships and practices between the districts and the county.              

4.0     FORMAL ACTION

4.1 When the Council’s requirements are not met, following a reasonable period 
given to comply, and where the identified breach is serious, then formal action 
will be considered to remedy the situation. This usually involves service of a 
Notice and/or Prosecution

4.2 5 Breach of Conditions Notices are currently in force relating to operational hours 
at Westington Quarry. Prosecution proceedings have been commenced against 
the operator in respect of the alleged breach of some of these notices. The 

Page 92



3

prosecutions were due to come to Court in in April 2019, but were adjourned at 
the Defendant’s request. A new trial has been set for September 2019.

4.3 A further Breach of Condition Notice is in force at Westington Quarry, relating to 
approved noise levels being exceeded, and in addition a Noise Abatement Order 
has been served by Cotswold District Council’s Environmental Health team, who 
are monitoring noise levels.

4.4 Following the issue of a s330 Notice on a landowner in Birdlip (to obtain land 
interest details), the Council’s request to remove tipped waste and keep the land 
clear of further waste has been complied with.

5.0     ‘REGULATION 3’ MATTERS

5.1 The County Council are rightly expected to investigate complaints relating to its 
own land or services, and approach their resolution in the same way as it would 
for any other breach of planning control reported. In order to demonstrate this 
transparency, reports to committee will identify such investigations, setting out 
the latest position.  

5.2 Two such cases remain as open investigations, following complaints received by 
the Planning Enforcement team.

 Cleeve School – Some external lights were remaining on beyond the 9pm 
deadline for switching off (as required by planning condition).  The County 
Council’s Asset Management and Property team have arranged for them to be 
switched off, and this has been confirmed through monitoring visits and by 
neighbours. We have received no complaints since January, and a spot check in 
April confirmed that all the lights switched off at exactly 9pm. This matter will 
remain open until such time as the pending application (which includes proposals 
to vary lighting hours) is decided.

 Willows Caravan Site, Sandhurst – The Environment Agency have reported 
waste tipping on this site, owned by the County Council, and is being dealt with 
by the Integrated Transport Manager (under whose remit the management of the 
land falls). A meeting on site in March resulted in agreed actions to remove 
waste off the land and to reinstate fences which should prevent access to the 
areas where waste has been deposited. This has now been included within a 
programme of works for 2018-19. Further, the Council’s Traveller Support Officer 
is working with local residents to review on site management arrangements, with 
a view to avoid any similar issues re-emerging.

5.3 An allegation has been received regarding drainage installed as part of the 
Cleeve School 6th form development, following flooding earlier this year. This 
matter has now been concluded as the Council’s Asset Management and 
Property Services team were able to provide certification showing that the works 

Page 93



4

had been undertaken in accordance with approved plans. Consequently the 
matter is being dealt with as a maintenance issue and not a breach of planning 
permission.

6.0 CONCLUSION

6.1 The performance of the Planning Enforcement team is set out in sections 3.0 to 
5.0 and demonstrates Gloucestershire County Council’s commitment to 
investigating and responding to breaches of planning control, and where 
necessary taking formal action. 

6.2 A total of 41 cases are currently under investigation, including ongoing 
monitoring. In addition to any further enquiries received, the team will continue to 
work to try and resolve or meet a satisfactory outcome on as many of these 
cases as possible. 

CONTACT OFFICERS:

Andy Birchley - Senior Planning Officer (Enforcement)
andy.birchley@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 425664

Page 94



Delegated Decisions made between 21st June 2109 and 12th September 2019

Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue 
Date

Decision

19/0005/CWMAJM Variation of conditions 2(Scope of 
development), 3(cessation date of 
22/06/2019), 7(Permitted Development) 
and 25 
(Landscaping/Restoration/Aftercare) 
relating to planning consent 
12/0031/CWMAJM dated 14/09/2012.

Crucis Park Farm Quarry
Barnsley Road
Ampney Crucis

14/08/2019 Consent

19/0035/CWMAJM Variation of conditions 2 (Scope of the 
development), 9 (Method of working) & 
20 (Stand off distance) of planning 
application no. 14/0130/CWMAJM. To 
amend the approved Phasing and Works 
Layout to reflect change in the phasing of 
quarry working. Working area to remain 
unchanged.

Land To The West Of 
Nayles Larch Building Stone Quarry
Snowshill Hill
Cutsdean
Gloucestershire

23/08/2019 Consent

19/0041/COMPLI Compliance with condition 8 (Remedial 
works) relating to planning consent 
15/0041/FDMAJW [Proposed use of a 
former transport yard and trailer storage 
as a waste transfer station for garage and 
industrial waste oils and motor parts with 
associated parking of company HGV.

Land Off Speculation Road
Cinderford
Gloucestershire
GL14 2YD

30/07/2019 Compliance with 
Condition(s)

19/0049/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 20(Drainage), 
29(Ecology), 32(Landscaping) & 35(Dust 
prevention) relating planning consent 
18/0053/STMAJW dated 12/02/2019.

Land At Old Airfield Farm
Moreton Valence
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL2 7NG

12/09/2019 Compliance with 
Condition(s)

P
age 95

A
genda Item

 12



Delegated Decisions made between 21st June 2109 and 12th September 2019

19/0050/NONMAT Non material amendment of planning 
permission 17/0039/STMAJW dated 
16.2.17 for the construction and 
operation of a waste encapsulation plant 
to amend the lighting scheme, reposition 
ventilation equipment, reduce stack 
height, add external high level walkway, 
amend foundation, footpath and cladding 
manufacturer specification.

Berkeley Nuclear Power Station
Hamfield Lane
Berkeley
Gloucestershire
GL13 9PA

16/07/2019 Consent

9/0034/CWREG3 Variation of conditions 2, 4, 8, 12, 16 and 
17 relating to planning consent 
18/0027/CWR3MJ dated 15/08/2018 
(Demolition , refurbishment and new 
build works including soft and hard 
landscaping amendments)  due to 
separation of the approved works into 
two phases of development.

Cirencester Primary School
Victoria Road
Cirencester
Gloucestershire
GL7 1EX

10/07/2019 Consent

19/0043/NONMAT Non-material amendment to make a 
change to the style of roof terminals 
relating to planning consent 
18/0033/CWR3MJ dated 10/08/2018 
plan 1730_14D - proposed elevations is 
superseded by 1730_14E and plan 
1730_25 - proposed roof plan is 
superseded by 1730_25A

Fairford Primary School
Leafield Road
Fairford
Gloucestershire
GL7 4JQ

10/07/2019 Non Material 
Amendment

19/0044/GLREG3 Installation of a new 3m wide vehicular 
gate to form 'In and Out' system from 
existing car park.

Finlay Community School & 
Childrens Centre
Tredworth Road
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL4 6RT

28/08/2019 Consent

P
age 96



Delegated Decisions made between 21st June 2109 and 12th September 2019

19/0048/TWREG3 Proposed erection of 3 x single storey 
classrooms and hall extension on three 
elevations with associated works

The John Moore Primary School
Columbine Road
Walton Cardiff
Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire
GL20 7SP

14/08/2019 Consent

19/0052/COMPLI Compliance with condition 15 (Written 
Scheme of Investigation) of planning 
consent 17/0023/GLR3MJ dated 
5/6/2017.

Site Of The Former Quayside House
Quay Street
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL1 2TZ

19/07/2019 Compliance with 
Condition(s)

19/0053/NONMAT Non material amendment for the 
removal of existing tree from front 
boundary (South) and change of fascia 
colour from Grey to White relating to 
planning consent 18/0060/TWREG3 
dated 12.12.2018.

Innsworth Infant School
Luke Lane
Innsworth
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL3 1HJ

08/08/2019 Consent

19/0054/NONMAT Non-material amendment (to planning 
consent 18/0033/CWR3MJ dated 
10/08/2018) to remove an existing tree 
from the front entrance and provide 2 
replacement trees elsewhere on the site. 
Proposed Plan no. 1730 11 Rev G 
'Proposed Site Plan & Landscaping' to 
supersede Plan no. 1730 11 Rev F.

Fairford Primary School
Leafield Road
Fairford
Gloucestershire
GL7 4JQ

23/08/2019 Consent

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Minutes of previous meeting
	9 APPLICATION NO: 19/0026/CHR3MJ Leckhampton Church of England Primary School, Hall Road, Cheltenham, GL53 0HP
	10 Second Review of Gloucestershire's Statement of Community Involvement Report
	Planning Committee Report - 2nd Review Gloucestershire Statement of Community Involvement Appendix (Sept 2019)

	11 Planning Enforcement Report
	12 Delegated Decisions 21st June - 12th September 2019

